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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRHE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December
HBZ12A318LLFE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023%F 20225 20214 20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FBT FAT FHET
Revenue e 372,310 408,572 362,513 259,314 352,937
Profit/(loss) before tax and B RIEEREE
impairment of non-financial MERTEF]
assets (E518) (11,585) 20,310 21,254 4,792 37,916
Impairment of non-financial assets JE& Bt EERE (8,065) (1,534) - - -
Income tax expense RSB (6,026) (6,218) (6,270) (3,145) (11,434)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREF(EBE) (25,676) 12,558 14,984 1,647 26,482
Profit/(loss) for the year ZiN/NEIEY 2=
attributable to owners EIEER
of the Company A (EiE) (25,676) 12,558 14,984 1,647 25,331
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 2022%F 20214 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T FET FAT FAT
Total assets BEHRE 369,425 395,067 401,028 361,692 286,400
Total liabilities BEEE 174,393 155,807 151,362 125,566 142,430
Equity attributable to owners of ViN/NEIE Z =N
the Company FE(hHER 195,032 239,260 249,666 236,126 143,970
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Cirtek Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group” or “Cirtek”), | would like to
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

In 2023, the world finally emerged from the shadow of the pandemic.
However, the recovery of the global economy in the first half of the year
was slower than expected due to various negative factors, such as high
interest rates and inflation spreading across countries and escalating
geopolitical unrest. As a result, the retail industry underperformed in
this challenging environment. At the beginning of the Reporting Period,
the majority of markets in which the Group operates were saturated
with concerns of economic recession, which resulted in low consumer
confidence and excess inventory within the industry, leading to a
prolonged flat performance of the industry from 2022 to the first half of
2023. Nonetheless, the Group continued to press ahead with its forward-
looking global expansion strategy amidst the headwinds, demonstrating
strong resilience and adaptability to effectively balance the challenges
present in various markets and proactively recover from the negative
market impact and to ensure business continuity.

In the second half of 2023, the overall environment began to change.
With less pressure from interest rate hikes and inflation, public
consumption sentiment gradually rebounded. According to a survey
conducted by Ipsos in 2023, the Global Consumer Confidence Index
recorded a month-on-month increase of 0.5 point to 47.7", indicating
an overall positive trend despite uneven performance in several areas,
reflecting signs of recovery in the retail industry. In addition, the
destocking cycle in the apparel industry was also coming to an end.
Although some apparel brands remained cautious, they began to restock
with new products. Market demand gradually stabilized in the fourth
quarter, and apparel sales in certain areas returned to pre-pandemic
levels, revitalizing the global manufacturing industry, including apparel
labels and trim products.

BRER

RAAERRFEERERAR(ARAT]) REHE
pEl(gmEA [ AEEI [BEDNES((EE]E
(TEEg))  REAEEEHZE2023F12A31H 1
FE(THRERBE DN FEE -

2023%F - HREMENEHFTTRIBOERE - A
i 2B S BRI ERERSE - URBEBUARE
TEHMBIEZEIMAR - LFFREQEERY
RUGERTEE - Bt - BmERHRBENRRT - T
EENRBIAMIBAR - HEMEOH - KO E
EEAELNBETISREEHRERRNES
HBEOHBEELO TR - METEEFRR S84
$202200 R REIEB F20234F F5F - @EUL -
SERERPRERITARE N2 IR0 DR -
WRERRBARHNEMEMERE N AR FESHE
ERHODEE: - MR TISM B EZETIRE - BRE
BREEEE -

B A2023F TH4F - BEEEIRIF IR 1 o BB N
BERBIRBOME  ARHEELESME - =L
K (lpsos)2023FMAKET « ZIHEEBE S04
HETN12 ABIRLIGIR0.580547.7 - BARE
AMERINAMEE  BEEBIBMY  REHEE
TEXREHDR o 1IN - RETEEREFRIT
TARE - AT RERBDARSEEREE -
BAARBBATE  MERRKRENZTEZRHE
B ERtERMEEELEEREIKE A2
REGEEREREZEREMNERREESIEA
)] e

1. https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/
documents/2023-12/PR-Ipsos-Global-Consumer-
Confidence-index-December-2023.pdf
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWHE

As the market recovered in the second half of the year, the Group’s
global presence and the commissioning of new plants in Mexico and
Bangladesh provided a solid foundation for the Group's development.
The Group maintained its annual gross profit margin at 43.7% with the
help of various means of profit maximization and cost control, despite
the negative impact in the first half of the year. Excluding the impairment
provision, our business would have broken even in the second half of the
year, confirming the effectiveness of the Group's strategy.

The Group has been actively developing its global sales and production
network for years, not only by building plants in the major clothing
manufacturing countries of China, Vietnam and Bangladesh, but also by
expanding its sales network to more than 40 markets around the world.
During the Reporting Period, we have strengthened our global presence
by actively expanding business in Southeast Asia, Western Europe and
Central and South America, among which our new sales offices in ltaly
and Spain have been able to maintain their foothold and bring in new
customers and orders. The Group has been expanding its production
capacity and has established production bases in China, Bangladesh,
Vietnam, India, Turkey, Mexico and Guatemala by the end of 2023,
marking its footsteps across Asia, Europe and America. During the year,
we completed the acquisition of 25% of the equity of Primway S.A.R.L,
a company incorporated in France and engaged in the same businesses
as us, namely printing, labeling and packaging, to expand our business in
Europe and new customer bases, having an immediate effect on revenue
contribution. Building a comprehensive global presence enables us to
act swiftly in the face of all market conditions, ensures stable business
development, and helps us capitalize on business opportunities arising
from market recovery in a timely manner.

Among our main businesses, we have sought to develop sectors with
potential and create growth momentum. Radio-frequency identification
("RFID") products is one of the Group's key projects. With the increasing
use of RFID products in the apparel industry, the Group actively
promoted RFID products to its customers, and successfully attracted
many new customers in Europe, resulting in steady growth in product
sales. The Group also continued to invest resources in the research and
development of RFID solutions to develop more innovative applications
that cater for market demand. In addition, as the market's awareness of
ESG issues has increased, the Group has allocated additional resources
to the development and launch of environmentally friendly products and
searched for environmentally friendly materials for customers to choose
from in order to grasp business opportunities while meeting social and
environmental expectations.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWHE

In 2024, despite that various uncertainties such as geopolitical unrest,
volatile interest rates and inflation have not yet subsided, the Group
expects the recovery trend in the second half of 2023 to continue
along with the improvement in consumption sentiment. According to a
fashion industry forecast by McKinsey & Company?, the revenue of the
global fashion industry will grow by 2% to 4% in 2024. In addition, The
Business Research Company?® pointed out in a report that the size of the
global apparel market will increase from $655.7 billion in 2023 to $703.0
billion in 2024, with a compound annual growth rate of 7.2%. With signs
of recovery in the market, we are cautiously optimistic about prospects
for the year ahead, and will strive to seize market opportunities and
respond strategically to market challenges.

After years of effort, the Group's global expansion plan is nearing
completion. With the global economy gradually recovering, we are
likely to gain a head start and realize growth. In addition, we have been
actively searching for potential investments and high-quality cooperation
opportunities. For example, after the acquisition of Primway, we
have fully utilized its well-developed sales network in Europe to gain
advantages and create growth drivers for the Group. Currently, we have
certain business agreements in the final stages of negotiation and expect
to effectively increase our sales volume and revenue upon formalization
of cooperation. We expect 2024 will provide the Group with greater
prospects for growth, enabling us to expedite development and create
more value for Shareholders.

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to
the Board, shareholders, staff members, clients and suppliers for their
recognition and long-term support, which have enabled us to strive for
self-improvement in the face of adversity and continue to overcome
challenges and achieve encouraging performances.

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong

27 March 2024

2024%F - BERRIMEFEMEKEL » FIREFH K
BEWREZENHETMN  BEEEBBEEREN
E ASEEBH2023F T HEFHNEBEZELSH
58 o BIEZE S (McKinsey & Company)2# 57T
ERTEA - R REZEREGE2024F8152%
FA%EE - B EHEITA F(The Business
Research Company)HUiREE 5 - BT 2 BkR
RMI5HRER2024FH#£2023456,5571BF TR
£497,030BF L FHEAEREXREI2% - AR
TS L ERET - BROERR—FHOASERE
RELENEE  WEBNINMBETSKE  RRR
WS 1 S T 5 PR o

REBZENEN  ARENERHBBBCEIIT
Ko BEERREEERSFE  BANEMBMESL
o RBIER - JLS - RPIEEBBREEEER
ERAE#ES - fImAKE TR KIEPrimwayik -
17D ERBEREMKANFEERE - HaRMe
LERRNRELEES  WDEE R EMEUME
EHMERP  RAKBEREEZNERS ) - B
Al BB E TRERGHRZORRIBEREE - By
HEIERAER - BRIRTTHEMER WS © RIS
F024E R RAEERHEANEREZH @ &
HPIRER - ARRERERNEE -

RAZ#HEREROEHESS KR B &
FREEBEHRMNEERRASE - #ERME
FRMEBRNE - MEFRRBOR - BIEEE -

FTERWITEF
FREERASEAE
B8

2024%3H278

2. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/retail/our-insights/
state-of-fashion
3. https://www.thebusinessresearchcompany.com/report/

apparel-global-market-report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB R DA

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The global economy exhibited different trends in the first and second
half of 2023. In the first half of the year, global consumption contracted,
the apparel industry performed unsatisfactorily, and customers became
more cautious in placing orders due to the global economic slowdown,
rising interest rates and high inflation. In particular, imports of textiles
and apparel from the United States dropped significantly by 22.7% in
the first half of the year. However, the global market gradually stabilized
in the second half of the year, with the fourth quarter showing signs of
improvement, and retailers around the world began to see the strength
of the recovery. According to the website of the China National Garment
Association, China’s apparel exports improved significantly in November
and December 2023, driven by factors such as increased consumer
demand during festive seasons such as the New Year and the effect
of destocking in the United States. During the year, the Group strived
to maintain its steady success. Leveraging its extensive sales network
and global strategic arrangement with sufficient production capacity, the
Group was not only able to withstand the risk of fluctuations in individual
market performance, but was also able to respond quickly to market
demand and capitalize on the opportunities arising from market recovery.

During the Reporting Period, the pace of recovery in the global
economy was slower than expected, which affected the Group's
financial performance. Fortunately, the economy exhibited signs
of recovery in the second half of the year and the Group swiftly
seized the business opportunities, which narrowed the year-on-year
decline in revenue. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue
decreased by approximately 8.9% to approximately HK$372.3 million
(2022: approximately HK$408.6 million). Although inflation led to
an increase in labour costs during the year, the Group leveraged its
global configuration advantages, deployed resources flexibly, tightly
controlled costs and optimized its capacity structure, enabling it to
maintain its gross profit margin at 43.7% for the period. However, due
to the challenging macro environment, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$18.8 million in the first half of the year. Together with
the provision of approximately HK$8.1 million for non-financial assets
due to accounting policies, the Group recorded a loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$25.7 million (2022: profit of
approximately HK$12.6 million) for the whole year.

In terms of sales, the global apparel retail industry experienced a lag
in growth between 2022 and the first half of 2023, as high inflation
and interest rates made global consumption more conservative, and
apparel brands continued to destock, resulting in lower than expected
orders overall, with a particularly pronounced slowdown in the United
States. In the second half of 2023, apparel sales resumed an upward
trajectory in most regions as overall sentiment improved. During the
year, the Group focused on optimizing its global sales network. Despite
the unsatisfactory business environment in individual regions, the Group
proactively intensified its efforts to enhance the performance of its sales
offices in Spain and ltaly, and it succeeded in attracting new customers.
With the team's proactive efforts in developing new markets and
consolidating the existing customer base, the Group’s sales showed a
solid rebound in the second half of the year.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE DT

In terms of production, the Group continued its globalization strategy by
setting up production bases in the world’s five largest garment exporting
countries, namely China, Vietnam, Bangladesh, India and Turkey, to
capture the demand for apparel labeling and decorative products in each
of these markets. During the Reporting Period, the production factories
in Mexico and Guatemala were successfully commissioned, while the
production factory in Turkey was in production in collaboration with
other factories. Meanwhile, the relocation of the Bangladesh production
factory was completed in the second half of the year, with production
activities returning to normal and capacity being significantly improved.
The Group anticipates receiving new orders from each of the newly
established production factories in the second half of 2023, enabling it to
capitalize on the economic recovery.

In terms of products, the adoption of Radio Frequency |dentification
(RFID) technology is becoming a major trend in the global logistics and
retail industries. With the rising market demand, the sales volume of
our RFID products grew significantly during the Reporting Period, and
its share of the Group's total business also increased. As an important
development direction, the Group allocated more resources to the
research and development of RFID products during the Reporting
Period, aiming to meet the diverse needs of the market. Having been
in the apparel labeling and decorative products industry for many years,
the Group has a large customer base and is able to promote its RFID
products to existing customers through cross-selling. This will not only
help boost revenue, but also strengthen the relationship with customers.
At the same time, the Group is developing RFID solutions to provide
retailers with software for sales and inventory management. The Group
will continue to research, develop and adapt to create the most suitable
and efficient RFID application solutions for our customers.

In recent years, there has been a significant increase in the interest in
and demand for eco-friendly products from major apparel brands. In
addition, Europe and other countries have increasingly stringent control
measures for plastic products. In order to meet the trend of sustainable
development and enhance our competitive edge, the Group is proactively
collaborating with customers to develop a wide range of eco-friendly
products and solutions. The Group is committed to developing and
manufacturing a wide range of labels made from biodegradable and
recyclable materials to fully satisfy customer demand for eco-friendly
products.

In February 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of certain equity
interests in Primway S.A.R.L (“Primway"”), a French company with
years of experience in the packaging business. Primway headquartered
in France for over a decade, has established robust sales networks
locally and in neighboring European countries. This acquisition allows the
Group to tap into new customers bases and secure orders in Europe,
capitalizing on the significant synergistic effects of this cooperation.
Meanwhile, during the Reporting Period, Yinyibai* (EJ100), a fast printing
company under the Group, made continuous efforts to enhance its
business structure, particularly by strengthening the sales capacity of its
online retail channels, to meet the diverse market demands. Yinyibai*
(EN100) proactively expanding its business-to-business (B2B) channels
and establishing cooperative relationships with enterprises to provide
momentum for the Group’s growth.

FEETH  SEIEEZRGERE  EHEREX
MR OB - R - R S EE R
THEOREARE  WEESHHEHRERER
KEEMNFTR - REMAE - 2 FNEHHHH
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MEMERTEST  BAERZTFE BB
NiHEMREEFHERFIDER - ETNMEABR
FHRA - TREEMNRERT S AERNRIZ - RS - £F
EHRNFAERFIDEEAAR - MEEEREEET L
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SRR o
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EmMRRT R - REBEB NN R EHES BRI
AR E T B R EENRE - LR MRS
HIRREMFBKL

REER2023F2 AT INBEZ FREDEER
KEREAB A AlPrimway S.A.R.L([Primway ]) &)
D P&AE o PrimwaytERABIER105F » EE MK
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REEERMNAEN TP REEITE - S1ENH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2024, the retail environment is gradually improving
as the global economy shows the first signs of recovery. According to
market research company Ipsos, the global consumer confidence index
in February 2024 was 49.1 points, representing a year-on-year increase
of 0.4 points. With consumer confidence on the rise, global demand
for apparel is expected to grow steadily, providing the Group with
development opportunities. Although risk factors such as international
political volatility and rising trade protectionism still exist and continue to
pose certain challenges to the market, the Group will be able to flexibly
respond to various changes while seizing opportunities and mitigating
potential risks by leveraging the strengths of its global presence built
over the years. The Group maintains a cautiously optimistic outlook.

After years of effort, the Group's global sales network and factory
arrangement are nearly complete, with sales and production capacity in
various locations ready for a new round of development opportunities.
With the commissioning of a new production factory in Bangladesh,
one of the three largest garment exporting countries, and the smooth
operation of plants in Mexico and Guatemala targeting the Central
and South American markets, the Group is poised to embark on new
opportunities. RFID products are widely used in the global logistics and
new retail industries, and with increasing market demand, the Group will
continue to emphasize the research and development of RFID products,
promotion, and the creation of more cross-selling opportunities with our
existing customers.

Sustainability has become a key trend in the future fashion industry.
The Group will increase the use and development of various eco-
friendly materials and other sustainable products to strengthen our
competitive edge in the market. In addition, in order to further promote
the sustainable development of the industry, the Group’s China factory
will be equipped with a solar power generation system by 2024, which
will provide the Group with more impetus for sustainable development.

Looking ahead, amidst the slow recovery of the global economy, the
Group will capitalize on its leading position in global distribution to
fully seize the opportunities arising from the rebound of the apparel
market, and to expand its customer base in different regions. At the
same time, the Group will continue to take stock of the situation and
adjust its resource allocation and marketing strategies in light of the
market environment, and continue to optimize its products to proactively
meet operational challenges and create long-term value for the Group's
shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group is mainly generated from the sale of apparel
labels and trim products, such as hang tags, woven labels, printed
labels and heat transfer products. Revenue of our Group decreased
by approximately HK$36.3 million or 8.9% from approximately
HK$408.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022") to
approximately HK$372.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
("FY2023"). Such decrease was primarily due to the uncertainties over
the global economy together with the competitive market which resulted
in a decrease in the sales volume of the Group.

Cost of sales and gross profit

The cost of sales of the Group decreased by approximately HK$25.4
million, representing a decrease of 10.8% from approximately HK$235.1
million for FY2022 to approximately HK$209.8 million for FY2023,
which was driven by the decrease in sales volume and decrease in the
subcontracting service consumed by the Group.

The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately HK$10.9 million,
or approximately 6.3%, from approximately HK$173.5 million for FY2022
to approximately HK$162.6 million for FY2023. The Group's gross profit
margin maintained from approximately 42.5% for FY2022 to 43.7% for
FY2023.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains, decreased by approximately
HK$3.4 million from approximately HK$9.5 million for FY2022 to
approximately HK$6.1 million for FY2023. The decrease was driven by
the one-off government subsidies received during FY2022 in relation to
wages subsidies under the Employment Support Scheme of the Anti-
epidemic Fund operated by the Hong Kong government and the freight
and transportation income affect by the decrease of revenue.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately HK$6.1 million, or approximately 11.4%, from
approximately HK$53.4 million for FY2022 to approximately HK$59.5
million for FY2023, primarily due to increase in the headcount related to
salesman and marketing consultants during FY2023.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$7.6
million, or approximately 6.7 %, from approximately HK$113.4 million for
FY2022 to HK$121.0 million for FY2023, primarily due to increase in the
headcount and the depreciation provided during FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Other operating income, net

The Group's other operating income recorded a decrease of
approximately HK$2.3 million from approximately HK$6.4 million for
FY2022 to approximately HK$4.1 million for FY2023 which due to the
decrease on foreign exchange gain during FY2023.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group's impairment of non-financial assets represented
approximately HK$8.1 million in FY2023, representing an increase of
approximately HK$6.6 million compared to approximately HK$1.5 million
in FY2022, which mainly on the provision of impairment that provided
for investment in an associate, goodwill and other intangible assets in
FY2023.

Finance costs

The Group’'s finance costs represented interest on bank loan and
overdrafts and interest on lease liabilities of approximately HK$3.2
million and HK$2.2 million in FY2023 and FY2022 respectively.

Taxation

The Group’s taxation expenses slightly decreased by approximately
HK$0.2 million, or approximately 3.1%, from approximately HK$6.2
million for FY2022 to approximately HK$6.0 million for FY2023, primarily
due to the decrease in the provision of taxation for the subsidiaries
within the Group during FY2023.

Profit/(loss) for the year
The operating loss of the Group was approximately HK$25.7 million

compared with the operating profit was approximately HK$12.6 million
for FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE DT

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had net assets amounted to approximately HK$195.0 million
as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$239.3
million). The Group maintained a sound financial position during FY2023.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$34.1 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$62.3 million).

For the cash and bank balances, approximately HK$5.8 million was
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, approximately HK$15.2 million
was denominated in US Dollars, approximately HK$1.2 million was
denominated in EUR Dollars, and approximately HK$2.7 million was
denominated in Renminbi. The Group's cash in Hong Kong Dollars,
US Dollars, EUR Dollars and Renminbi was held to support its core
operational needs.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$23.1 million (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$20.9 million) and aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$130.0 million, of which approximately HK$23.1 million
was utilised and approximately HK$106.9 million was unutilised. The
Group is not committed to draw down the unutilised amount.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$141.2 million (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$130.7 million). The property, plant and equipment
increased by approximately HK$10.5 million, or 8.0%, which was mainly
attributable to the acquisition of plant and machinery of approximately
HK$37.5 million during FY2023. For further strengthen the Group's
market position, increase its market share and capture the growth in
the global market, the Group has made additional investments in the
machinery and equipment.

Current ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$28.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$41.8 million as compared to that of approximately HK$70.4 million
as at 31 December 2022. As a result, current ratio (dividing total current
assets by total current liabilities at year end date) deteriorated to 1.2
times as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 1.5 times).

Gearing ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (dividing bank borrowings plus lease liabilities
by equity attributable to owners of the Company at year end date)
increased from approximately 21.3% as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately 24.7% as at 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly
due to the increase on interest-bearing bank borrowings during the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Treasury policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Reporting Period.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amounts and trade receivables by performing ongoing credit
assessments and monitoring prompt recovery and, if necessary, making
adequate impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts. In order to
achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funds, the Group's
treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally deposited with
leading licensed banks in Hong Kong and denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Euro dollars and United
States dollars. The Group currently does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge against the volatility associated with foreign
currency transactions and other financial assets and liabilities arising
in the ordinary course of business. The Group has not experienced any
material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result
of fluctuations in currency exchanges rate during the Reporting Period.
The Board will closely monitor the changes of the rate of exchange and
government policies from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(31 December 2022: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no material subsequent event undertaken by the Group after
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this announcement.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, we had a total of 1,219 employees in all
regions (2022: 1,164 employees).

The Company’'s employee benefit expense (excluding directors’
remuneration), including salaries, bonuses and other employee’s
benefits, amounted to approximately HK$153.7 million for FY2023
(FY2022: approximately HK$156.7 million). Remuneration packages
are generally structured by reference to market terms and individual
qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally reviewed annually based
on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend by the
Company for FY2023 (FY2022: HK0.20 cents per ordinary share).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this announcement, the Group did not hold any
significant investments in equity interest in any other companies and had
no definite future plans for material investments and capital assets for
FY2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 24 February 2023 (after trading hours), the Lowatag Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the purchaser
(the “Purchaser”) has entered into an investment agreement with
Mr. Mickael Berdah, Mr. Dominique Toyer and Mr. Frédéric Wengrow,
as the vendors (collectively, the “Vendors”), pursuant to which (i) the
Purchaser agreed to subscribe for the subscription shares of Primway
S.A.R.L, a limited liability company incorporated in France; and (ii) the
Vendors agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to acquire the sale
shares of Primway S.A.R.L, for a total consideration of EUR1,095,000.
For details of the acquisition of shares in Primway S.A.R.L, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 24 February 2023.

Save for the above, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the
Reporting Period.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 12 March 2020 (the
“Listing Date"”). The net proceeds from the initial public offering of the
shares, net of underwriting commission in respect of the offering and
other relevant expenses, amounted to approximately HK$69.9 million.

As of 31 December 2023, The net proceeds which remained unutilised
as of 31 December 2023 amounts to approximately HK$26.9 million
(the "Unutilised Net Proceeds”), and reference is made to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2024 in relation to the
financial results of the Company for FY2023, the Company would like to
clarify due to an inadvertent clerical error, the amount of net proceeds
utilised in FY2023 under the section headed “Use of Proceeds from
Listing” should be HK$8.512 million instead of HK$9.992 million as
shown in the announcement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Change in use of proceeds

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 31
October 2023, the Board have resolved to change the use of the
Unutilised Net Proceeds from the construction of the New Bangladesh
Factory and purchasing machinery for the New Bangladesh Factory
to the use as general working capital. Details of the change in use of
proceeds are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 31
October 2023.

Set out below is the actual use of net proceeds from the initial public
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offering during the Reporting Period. HERRR -
Amount Revised
remaining allocation of
Amount and brought unutilised
utilisedin ~ forward from Amount  net proceeds Amount Expected
the six months the six months utilised in as at unutilised timeline for
ended 30 June  ended 30 June the year ended 31 December as at utilisation of
Percentage 2023 2023 31 December 2023 31 December the unused
of net HE2003% HEWRE 2023 H2023E 2023 net proceeds
proceeds 6A308 6A308 HEunE 128318 R2023% L
Use of net proceeds {BHFEZE  Net proceeds AR E~MBAZ  2ANALEE  BRERFERE 12B31A FERFERE
FETERERE BEAOL  MERERE EBALE OERANEE  CBACEE FHIEBIARE  EBRZEE FRZEER
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AT FAT FET FAT FAT TEr
Construction of the New Bangladesh
Factory and Purchasing Machinery
for the New Bangladesh Factory N/A
BENRNAKER
RHRNARERERE 98.4% 68,800 3,504 31,908 8,512 (26,900) NER =
General Working Capital N/A N/A N/A N/A
—RegEES 1.6% 1,100 oyl R NER 26,900 26,900 AR
Total
et 100% 69,900 3,504 31,908 8,512 - 26,900
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Reasons for the change in use of proceeds

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 18 October
2023 in relation to the completion of construction of the New Bangladesh
Factory, the Group has completed construction of the New Bangladesh
Factory. The actual costs of the construction have been less than
the anticipated costs as construction costs in general have reduced.
Moreover, the Board considers that further purchase of machinery for
the New Bangladesh Factory may not be able to make a breakthrough
in the Group's business and generate better financial results and return
for the Group, due to the recent downturn of the economy, inflation
and interest rate hikes affected purchasing power, and inventories had
been steadily increasing under the low demand for goods, resulting in
a significant decrease in purchase orders. As such, the Board considers
that a more cautious approach in relation to the execution of the Group's
expansion plan should be adopted.

In light of the above, the Board considers that the reallocation of the
remaining unutilised net proceeds from the construction of the New
Bangladesh Factory and purchasing machinery for the New Bangladesh
Factory to the use as general working capital would allow the Group to
utilise its financial resources in a more flexible, beneficial and effective
way. The Board is also of the view that the reallocation will allow the
Group to meet its operational needs and provide more buffer to cope
with the economic uncertainties in the future.

The Board confirms that there are no material changes in the nature of
the business of the Group and considered that the proposed change is in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and will not
have any material adverse effect on the existing business and operations
of the Group.

Save as the changes disclosed above, there are no other proposed
changes in the use of the Net Proceeds. The Unutilised Net Proceeds will
be applied in a manner consistent with the above planned applications.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures. The corporate governance
principle of the Company emphasises accountability and transparency
and is adopted in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders
(the “Shareholders”). In addition, the Company will strive to
continuously improve these practices and cultivate an ethical corporate
culture.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to protect the interests of its Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Board has reviewed the
Company's corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the
Company has complied with all Code Provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code"”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) during the Reporting Period. The Company has applied the
principles of the CG Code to its corporate governance structure and
practices as described in this report. The Company will continue to
enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct
and growth of its business and to review such practices from time to
time to ensure that they comply with the CG Code and align with the
latest developments.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board recognises
that corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of the
Directors which includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and compliance
manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board on

such matters; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is composed of six Directors, of which three are executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (“Mr. Barry Chan"), Ms.
Law Miu Lan (“Ms. Candy Law") and Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (“Mr. James
Chan”), and three are independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. All
the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate professional
qualifications, experience or related industry expertise. Mr. Barry Chan,
the Chairman, is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law, the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive
Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally. The Directors’ biography and
relevant relationships amongst them are set out in the section headed
“DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES" section
under Report of the Directors on pages 35 to 39 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the members of the
Board is related to one another.

Review will be made regularly by the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirement of the
Group. Also, a balanced composition of executive Directors is maintained
to ensure independence and effective management. The Company
has satisfied the Listing Rules in having one of the independent non-
executive Directors with appropriate accounting qualifications and
expertise to sit in the Audit Committee.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and the
Listing Rules. Independent non-executive Directors are identified in all
corporate communications. An updated list of the Directors identifying
the independent non-executive Directors and the roles and functions
of the Directors is maintained on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

When selecting potential candidates for directors, skills, experience,
expertise, their devotion of time, potential conflicts of interests are
key factors of consideration. The Nomination Committee was set up to
make recommendations to the Board on the selection and nomination
of candidates for directorship. Majority of members of the Nomination
Committee are independent non-executive Directors.
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The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is responsible for the
formulation of the Group's strategy, overseeing the management of
the business and affairs of the Group. The Board directly, and indirectly
through its committees, leads and provides direction to management by
laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors
the Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures that
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.
The Board reserves its decision for all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Key and important decisions are fully discussed at the board meetings.
All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters proposed for
inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each board meeting to the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). With the
support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The
Chairman ensures that the Board works effectively to discharge its
responsibilities in the best interests of the Company, and, to establish
good corporate governance practices and procedures. He also ensures
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner and all Directors are encouraged to make a full and active
contribution to the board’s affairs. Directors with different views are
encouraged to voice their concerns. They are allowed sufficient time for
discussion of issues so as to ensure that board decisions fairly reflect
board consensus. A culture of openness and debate is promoted to
facilitate the effective contribution of non-executive Directors and ensure
constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors.
During the year, the Chairman held a meeting on 8 December 2023 with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
directors in compliance with the applicable code provision of the CG
Code.

Board meetings are scheduled to be held at regular intervals. The Board
would meet more frequently as and when required.

All the Directors are covered by the Director’'s & Officer’s Liability
Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.
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The attendance record of the individual Directors at the Board and
committee meetings, and general meeting(s) held during FY2023 is set
out below:

Xﬁ%tﬂﬁ%zomﬁmﬁ BITNEEGREE
BEEALBRAREG 2BHEHINWT -

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

during FY2023

R20238 BFE HE EREHEERAHK
Board Audit Remuneratlon Nomination
Meeting committee committee committee AGM
EESEE 2 BRZEES FHEES REEEE RERBFXAS
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Barry Chan [REEBR 4 4 5/5 - - 11 1/1
Ms. Candy Law BEUMLL 5/5 - = - 11
Mr. James Chan PR AE & 5 A 5/5 - - 1/1 1/1
Independent Non- BYFHITES
executive Directors
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick  #RiE#HEA4 5/5 3/3 11 11 1/1
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE 5/5 3/3 11 11 11
Ms. Luk Mei Yan PEXB 2+ 5/5 3/3 1Al Al 11

Notice of at least fourteen days is given to the Directors for regular
meetings, while Board papers are sent to the Directors not less than
three days before the scheduled date of a board or board committee
meeting. The Directors can attend meetings in persons or through other
means of electronic communication. The Company Secretary ensures
that the procedure and all applicable rules and regulations are strictly and
fully complied with. Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient details of the matters considered and
decisions reached at the relevant meetings. Draft and final versions of
the minutes in respect of board meetings and board committee meetings
are sent to all Directors or board committee members respectively
for comment and records within a reasonable time after the relevant
meetings. Minutes of board meetings and board committee meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

Directors have full access to information on the Group and are able to
obtain independent professional advice whenever necessary.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will meet with other Directors and key
management executives, and will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of her appointment. Subsequently,
he/she will receive briefings and other professional development
necessary to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Company and he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibility with the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Directors
are also invited to participate in the Company events to familiarize
themselves with the operations of the Company and create opportunity
to communicate with other management members of the Company.

The records of training as received by each Director for the year ended
31 December 2023 are summarised as follows:

EszEIlRE

BEHIESEHREAGESREIRZEETRARS
| YRR EENERSEERRZ2E - EARER
ZEtBIES - Hig - REFICENEHEEME
ERREI UHEREHARRZEREBARE
TR YR2HABRBRRARRZEE -

ARBBEERERSBHEEFTERRITIIAEHN
WENMB NG RREETHRRIEMEZ
BATHEESELEM - EFMERZ2EANF
BE) - AREBARBEE - TAEREEARFE
EREXEEAE -

BREFENEZ2023F12A31 B ILFEEZEI 2
SOERBLAMAA T ¢

Type of trainings
FIER

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Barry Chan PR EE AR 5T A
Ms. Candy Law OB

Mr. James Chan PRAFIE 5 &
Independent Non-executive Directors BAUFHTES
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick MIEHESEE

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE
Ms. Luk Mei Yan FEER At

>

A, €

A: Newsletters published by the Stock Exchange
B: Corporate governance & administration courses organized by
the School of Continuing and Professional Studies, The Chinese

University of Hong Kong

C: E-learning courses prepared by the Stock Exchange
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
THE COMPANY

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct regarding
Directors’ and employees’ securities transactions. The chairman
of the Audit Committee is the person to be notified for securities
dealings by Directors and a designated form is used for notification and
acknowledgment purpose. Following specific enquiry by the Company,
they have complied with the requirements of the Model Code during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company places great importance on internal control and risk
management to safeguard the assets of the Company and the interests
of Shareholders. The Board has overall responsibility for the system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Audit Committee
assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an
effective system of internal control. The Audit Committee reviews the
process by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk
assessment process, and the way in which business and control risks
are managed through the assistance of the Company’s Internal Control
Consultant.

The Internal Control Consultant assesses risk exposure, formulates audit
plan and ensures that the audit programs cover key internal control areas
of operating subsidiaries on a rotational basis for the review by the Audit
Committee.

The Internal Control Consultant reports their findings and recommendations
to management of the Company and the Audit Committee. The Internal
Control Consultant also monitors the follow- up actions agreed upon in
response to her recommendations and reports to the Audit Committee
the progress of implementation of those recommendations.

With the assistance of the Audit Committee and the Company's Internal
Control Consultant, the Board is satisfied that the overall financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management of the Group
continues to be effective and adequate.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group. The Directors ensure that the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 46 to 51 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the auditors of the Company
received approximately HK$2,160,000 (2022: HK$2,200,000) for their
audit service. Non-audit service which covered taxation service provided
to the Group was approximately HK$380,000 (2022: HK$414,000) in the
same year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises two Independent Non-
executive Directors and one executive Director. They are Mr. Lee Tak
Cheong (Committee Chairman), Ms. Candy Law and Ms. Luk Mei Yan.
The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference which are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and the
senior management were reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration, includes basic salary and performance bonus. Annual
salary adjustment and performance bonus are subject to review and
approval by the Remuneration Committee.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Chairman, the executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company, the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the Reporting Period
with a 100% attendance by all committee members. During the year,
the works performed by the Remuneration Committee included the
following:

— the review of the performance and remuneration packages of
directors and senior management; and

— the review of the remuneration policy of the Group.
The remuneration of members of the senior management (excluding

Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out
below:
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HZE2023F12A31THILFE - AR A ZEAE
B E % B OBR 75 UK BR 49 2,160,000 5% 7T (2022 £ -
2,200,000 7T) » RF « HE AL ERME 2 FEXE
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414,000587T) °
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Number of

person(s)

Band of Remuneration (HK$) FNEEE (GBr) A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L £2,000,000/8 7T =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/7Cc£2,500,000/8 7T -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 023,000,000/ 7T =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7L 23,500,000/8 7T 1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, Mr.
Barry Chan (Committee Chairman) and Mr. James Chan and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong, Mr. Lam
Chor Ki Dick and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. The defined terms of reference of the
Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board for selection and nomination of directors, and the
succession planning of directors and senior management. The
Nomination Committee also reviews the size, structure and composition
of the Board with reference to the Company's board diversity policy and
assesses the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee met once during the Reporting Period with a
100% attendance by all committee members.

During the year, the works performed by the Nomination Committee
included the following:

— the recommendation of the retiring directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting (the “AGM");

— the review of composition of the Board; and

— the assessment of independence of the independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board to enhance
quality of its performance. The policy aims to achieve diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors including but not being
limited to skills, regional and industry experience, background, age,
race, gender and other qualities. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments are based on merit, in the content of the talents, skills and
experience, and taking into account diversity.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the composition of
the Board under diversified perspective, and monitor the implementation
of this policy to ensure its effectiveness. It will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”)
which sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that
the Board members have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group's business.

The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

— Reputation for integrity;

— Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business and
industry;

— Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

— Compliance with the criteria of independence, in case for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director, as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange;

— Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

— Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time as appropriate.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedure for the selection and
appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at general
meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors. They are Ms. Luk Mei Yan (Committee Chairman), Mr. Lee Tak
Cheong and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick. The defined terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
effectiveness of Company’s internal control and the Company's internal
audit function, risk management system and regulatory compliance, the
review of the Company’s financial information and compliance, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditor and assessing its independence and performance.

ERREG/IERE SRENARRANEE
BRERARR 2 ABEZREE RREERG R
EBEARM - %lﬁ$®ﬂﬁﬂ‘%ﬁﬂ&é%ﬁ'l§iﬁ * Bt
ZERBRIMNEREEN ME F SR RE ARG
HBTMERKRR -

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings BAi&ﬁ‘:HHF'EJ BREEERTTZREE  HERL
and the attendance record are as follows: f= 3N
Attendance
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick MBS A 3/3
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEERE 3/3
Ms. Luk Mei Yan PEEBE Lt 3/3

The works performed by the Audit Committee during the year included
the following:

— reviewing with the auditor on key audit and accounting matters, and
updates on regulatory rules in the auditor's Audit Committee Report
and the draft audited financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023;

— reviewing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 focusing on business highlights, any change of accounting
policies and practices, and compliance with accounting standards
and Listing Rules requirements;

— reviewing with the auditor the scope of their audit, their communication
plan, their independence, developments affecting the Company's
business, their risk assessment and updates of accounting standards
and Listing Rules as affecting the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023;

— reviewing the audit plan, audit progress report and significant audit
findings with management at all committee meetings;

— reviewing with management on implementation of the recommendations
on internal control made by the Internal Control Consultant; and

— reviewing the risk management and internal control of the Group.

The Committee is satisfied with the review of the work of external
auditors, their audit fees, results of their audits and has recommended
to the Board their re-appointment for the financial year ending on 31
December 2023 at the 2024 AGM.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Group and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs. During the financial year
ended 31 December 2023, the Company Secretary has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules which requires the Company Secretary to take no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biographical details of
the Company Secretary are set out in the section headed "DIRECTORS’
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES" in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy"),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders. A decision to declare and pay any dividends would
require the approval of the Board and will be at their discretion. The
Board may from time to time determine and pay to the Shareholders
such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The Board may
recommend the payment of final dividends which are required to be
approved by the Shareholders in general meetings.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

A special resolution has been passed at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 16 June 2023 to adopt the new amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association in order to comply with
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 13.90 of the Listing Rules, the Company has published
its new amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognises the importance of communication with the
Shareholders, both individual and institutional as well as potential
investors. The Company adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy
with an aim of ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with timely
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

The AGM also provides a good opportunity for communication between
the Board and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of the respective Committees as well as the external auditors
are normally present to answer questions as raised by the Shareholders.
Notice of the AGM and the related circular are sent to the Shareholders
at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.

Votes of the Shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Detailed procedures for conducting a
poll will be explained to the Shareholders at the beginning of the general
meeting to ensure that the Shareholders are familiar with the voting
procedures. Each issue will be proposed by a separate resolution by the
Chairman of the general meeting. The poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day of
the general meeting. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting (“"EGM").
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Procedures and right for the Shareholders to convene EGM

- An EGM shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the
"Eligible Shareholder(s)"”) having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition;

— The requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting, and
be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The Eligible
Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the Company to the
satisfaction of the Company;

— The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the Articles of Association to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order
or the Shareholders concerned have failed to deposit sufficient
money to meet the Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM; and

— If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Act (as revised) of Cayman
Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of requisition convene an
EGM.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by the Shareholders can be sent
in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office. Shareholders are encouraged to access to the
Company website at http://www.cirtek.com for all relevant information
including Company’s announcements, press releases, financial
highlights, the Company’s constitutional documents and detailed
procedures for the Shareholders to convene meetings.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a proactive policy for promoting investor relations and
communications by maintaining a regular dialogue with investors and
other stakeholders. The Company’s website at http://www.cirtek.com
also features a dedicated Investor Relations section to facilitate
communication with the Shareholders and investors. Corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information are
made available electronically and in a timely manner.

Save for the adoption of the Articles of Association upon the Listing,
since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, there
had been no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company during the year was investment
holding. The principal activities of the Group during the year were
manufacture and sale of apparel products, such as hang tags, woven
labels, printed labels and heat transfer products. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during
the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and review in the business activities of the Group, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
and an indication of the likely future development of the Group's
business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 7 and pages
8 to 17 of this annual report, respectively. Certain key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group's environment policies and
performance and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations,
and an account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders are
included in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The Company
will also publish its standalone Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2023 on the websites of the
Stock Exchange in due course. These discussions form part of this
“Report of the Directors”. The financial risk management objectives and
policies of the Group are shown in note 38 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year and the
Company's and the Group's financial positions at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 52 to 156.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK0.20 cents per ordinary
share). The final dividend is conditional upon the passing of the relevant
resolution by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “2024 AGM") to be held on 21 June 2024.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group's financial information for FY2023 is set out on
page 4 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year are
set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules during FY2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company did not have any connected transactions which were
subject to the requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the year. The related party transactions are disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during FY2023.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during FY2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares during FY2023.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report

MBEREE

RNEBMPR 2023 REENFBEER B EBHNAE
REE4E -

W% - BERRE

AEEME  BERRERFAZEBF BN
HWmERME14 -

JEEN

AR E P AT F A2 BB BB S R A
28 °

EERBBELPNES

R2023BFE  RAEBEXEBIN  IBEER
BIE ETAR RIS 10K B ok i AR R B T3
Fok A RERE F W S P A s o

BERXS

FR - AQRBETCMEEST ETHEAE14AEE
THRENBERS - B ERINEGRE M ISRERM
AE35H KR ©

EEAH

MN2023MRFE - BTV FEEBAARZ
BREMERBOEBNEERITHEL

X B S B AR (AT BT /B8 & B 70 2023 87 BK 4F /2 11 4 B
B BOHERRRZ EMES

BrLBEER
AEERARKASREEZRLBERREART
AR PR BCR B E MR BB B K
N

BIER R

2R X B S F0 7 B A R P 2023 81 B 4R 2 #5489
MEZ A TR R ER R -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and in note 30 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$212.6
million (2022: HK$252.9 million). The share premium of the Company is
available for distribution or paying dividends to the shareholders provided
that immediately following the distribution or the payment of dividends,
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
18 June 2024 to Friday, 21 June 2024 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the 2024 Annual General Meeting, all properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 17 June
2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 9.0% (2022: 15.6%) of the total sales for
the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
5.5% (2022: 10.6%). Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 10.0% (2022: 14.3%) of the total purchases
for the year and purchase from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 3.5% (2022: 5.1%). None of the Directors of the Company
or any of their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Ms. Law Miu Lan

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAM Chor Ki Dick

Mr. LEE Tak Cheong

Ms. LUK Mei Yan

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, one-third
of the directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third,
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which
a director retires may fill the vacated office. According to Article 112
of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Article of Association, each of Ms. Law Miu Lan
and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick will retire at the 2024 AGM and all of them,
being eligible, will offer themselves for reelection at the 2024 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Ms. Luk Mei Yan, and as
at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILES
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (FREZRF), aged 64, being one of our
Controlling Shareholders and Chairman of our Board, was appointed as
our managing director in February 1992 and appointed as our Director
on 25 January 2019 and re-designated as our executive Director on
21 February 2020. Mr. Barry Chan is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Barry Chan is responsible for our Group's overall management,
corporate development and strategic planning. He obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Mr. Barry Chan has over 42 years of experience in the apparel labels
and trim products manufacturing industry. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse
of Ms. Candy Law and the father of Mr. James Chan, who are both our
executive Directors.

Ms. Law Miu Lan (E##), aged 61, being one of our Controlling
Shareholders, was appointed as our assistant managing director in
September 1994, our Chief Executive Officer and Director on 17
May 2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21
February 2020. Ms. Candy Law is responsible for our Group's overall
management, operation and strategic planning. She obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Ms. Candy Law has over 39 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry. Ms. Candy Law is the spouse of
Mr. Barry Chan and the mother of Mr. James Chan, who are both our
executive Directors.

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (BR#¥1£), aged 34, joined our Group in October
2013 as an operations assistant and is currently a product development
manager of Charming Printing Limited, a subsidiary of the Group
(“Charming Printing”). He was appointed as our Director on 17 May
2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21 February
2020. Mr. James Chan is also a member of the Nomination Committee
and director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. James Chan
has over five years of experience in the apparel labels and trim products
manufacturing industry. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
product development, marketing and strategic planning of our Group,
in particular our Group's sales and marketing activities in Europe. He
studied diploma of engineering at Deakin University from February 2011
to February 2012. He is the son of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law,
our executive Directors.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick (%), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is currently
a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. He graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in November 1990.
He then obtained the master of arts in electronic business from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2003.

From July 1990 to October 2000, Mr. Lam held various accounting and
finance positions in a number of companies including AIA Group Limited,
Inchcape Marketing Ltd., LeaRonal (S.E.Asia) Ltd., Elite Business
Machines Mfg. Co. Ltd., Dong Ying Computer Label & Embroidery
Company Limited and AFG Company Limited. From November 2000
to January 2005, Mr. Lam served as a financial controller at Lexmark
International (China) Co., Ltd., a company principally engages in the
provision of printing and imaging products and software solutions
services. From January 2005 to December 2005, he worked as a financial
controller at Fellowes Consulting LLC Dongguan Representative Office,
a company principally manufactures paper shredders. From January
2006 to November 2008, Mr. Lam worked as a director at Electrical
Components International Inc., a company principally manufactures
wire harness, with his last position being a finance and administrative
director and was the director of business administration at ECI (Huizhou).
From December 2008 to October 2010, Mr. Lam served as an operation
controller at Shakespeare (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company principally
manufactures sports hardware. From November 2010 to January 2012,
he served as a consultant at Resources Global Professionals (HK)
Limited, a consultancy firm. Mr. Lam has served as a vice president of
the asian operation department in ECI (Huizhou) since February 2012.

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong (Zf&£8), aged 52, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is currently
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in engineering in November 1993. He then obtained a postgraduate
diploma in quality management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2000. In December 2003, Mr. Lee obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong.

From April 2004 to December 2007, Mr. Lee worked as a general
manager overseeing factory management at Mansfield Manufacturing
Co. Ltd., a company primarily engaged in metal stamping business.
From December 2007 to June 2009, he served as a general manager at
Top Link Industrial Co. Ltd., a company primarily manufactures electric
powered tools. From September 2009 to August 2014, Mr. Lee started
working as a general manager at Charming Printing and was promoted
as an operational director in April 2012. From October 2014 to the
present, Mr. Lee has been serving as a director overseeing the business
management at Dreamcubics 3D Printing Limited, a company primarily
sells 3D printers and provides 3D printing service.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report

BYFHTES

MEBHESLE 5857 © W2020F 28218 EZT A
BYIRTES  BORARARIZERZEZESR
RBZEGZHKE - HMR1990F 11 AEEREE
FEXRE YRS TIHEES L8 - HEER
2003F 11 ARSEAB M AEN X EEL(EFRE
BN -

1990 7 8 £2000F 108 * MEERZHEA
BEETRET R BB - BEKPREIZER
BRAR - RzEEBHERERAE - BE(R
Fgan) AR A A + Elite Business Machines Mfg.
Co. Ltd. - REBFEA LR L F R D A KAFG
Company Limited ° 720004 11 A £ 2005 F 1
A MEERFMBERB (PR BRAR(A—HE
TR EIRMEDRI R FERE R RBRGERT RR
TBEAR)) EEM BB E - 7200551 A £20055
128+ M Fellowes Consulting LLC Dongguan
Representative Office (A — M EEX F £ &E
BERN DR BEMBLE - R20066F1 A%
20084 11 A + # % 4 i Electrical Components
International Inc.(B—HEEXELERZNA
INEAES  SEBEBNAMBERITEEE XA
ECI (Huizhou)KIEIITEEE ° K2008F 12 A=
20106F10A * MEERES T B (BEB)ERA
A(A—HEZERELEEEDEFNRR)NEER
B o )R2010F 11 AE2012F1 A » FREM AR
Resources Global Professionals (HK) Limited#&
{ERER - MRITEE20129F2 A#EIE(EECI (Huizhou)
KM E PR A o

ZEB LA - 525% 0 MN202062A21 BEEZEATE
VIERITES  RAARRZFHEZESEREAR
ENZEGNIRELZEGZKE - THEMK1993
FUAERERBBRE  REIRBLEM - fHE
BR2000F 11 ARUSA BRI ARENEEEEH
FCHEUR - M20035E128 - ZAEMBEBTX
ABHNTEHERELT B -

R20045F4 AE2007F 128 @ ThREETXRE
BSBRUEERAT (A HEERSTSBEBHERE
BHAR)WELE  BEERFEEE - K2007
F128F2009%6A8  FIEEFNEEXEFRAA
(A—HEXE4ESHTEANAR)HEALE o A
2009F9 A £2014F8A » HAFHBRIEMTEEE
FlE)4RAETE - WR2012F4 B EF AL EMAE - /i
2014F10RES  ZhE—BHEETSILH =447
ENERAR (A —MEBHE T BT RIRHE T
BITORENAR)NES ' AEEREEKETE -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

Ms. Luk Mei Yan (F£3 %), aged 59, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 June 2021 and is currently the Chairman
of Audit Committee, a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Luk acquired her
bachelor of commerce (accounting) from Curtin University of Technology
in August 1996 and associate diploma in accounting from Adeliade
College of TAFE in Australia in May 1993. Ms. Luk was admitted as
a certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants in March 1998 and was certified as an associate
of Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in July 1998.

From November 2013 to December 2016, Ms. Luk was appointed as
an independent non-executive director and the chairman of the audit
committee in Eprint Group Limited (Stock code: 1884). From July 2008
to March 2019, she had also worked as the group financial controller
of Golden Sun Home Products Limited. Since February 2020, she has
served as accounting manager in Advanced Finishing Systems (HK)
Limited.

Senior Management

Mr. Chew Yong Hock (E%:%&), aged 65, was appointed as the sales and
marketing director of Charming Printing in July 2012. Mr. Chew obtained
a higher stage certificate in salesmanship and sales management
from The London Chamber of Commerce and Industry in spring 1984.
Mr. Chew has more than 32 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry.
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Mr. Fung Hong Keung (5 %), aged 61, was appointed as Chief
Financial Officer of Charming Printing in February 2021. From 1992 to
2011, Mr. Fung held various financial position in a number of companies
including Integrated Display Technology Limited, a subsidiary of IDT
International Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 167)), Sanmina-SCI (China) Limited, a subsidiary
of Sanmina- SCI (NASDAQ stock code: SANM) and a subsidiary of
Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 420). During the period from
2011 to 2012, Mr Fung worked as the Chief corporate service officer of
H£EH CRYI) ##AAR DT, a subsidiary of the Hong Kong Productivity
Council. From 2012 to 2016, Mr Fung worked as executive director, chief
financial officer, company secretary at eprint Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:1884), which
primarily engaged in supplying online printing services and customized
printed products. From 2017 to 2020, Mr Fung worked as chief financial
officer at Tung Chit Tobacco (H.K) Company Limited, a subsidiary of
Tung Chit Group Limited, which primarily engaged in distribution and
manufacturing of PRC-branded cigarettes.

Mr. Fung obtained a bachelor degree of arts in accountancy from the
Bolton University of Higher Education in the United Kingdom in October
2003, and a graduate diploma in China marketing and e-business from
the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education in November 2004. He was awarded the Professional
diploma in Corporate Governance and Directorship from the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and Hong Kong Productivity Council in November
2012. He has been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since December 2004, a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2005, and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since January 2013.

Mr. Richard Phillip Ringeisen, aged 65, was appointed as the president
of Charming US in February 2011 and is the director of Charming US.
Mr. Ringeisen studied at the Western Michigan University from 1979
to 1980. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ringeisen worked as a western
region sales manager at US Label Corporation, a company primarily
sells and markets apparel identification products, from 1999 to 2001.
Mr. Ringeisen worked as a sales manager in the western region of the
United States at Alkahn Labels Inc, a company primarily engaged in the
sales business, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Ringeisen then worked as a vice
president at 28 Packaging Inc, a company primarily engaged in the sales
and marketing business from 2003 to 2008. He later worked as a vice
president at Integra Trim, a company primarily engaged in the sales and
marketing business from 2008 to 2010 where he was responsible for
overseeing and managing the sales business of the company.

Mr. Liao Wenwei (B3 f&), aged 55, was appointed as the general
manager of Charming China in August 2009. He obtained a diploma in
business administration from the Huizhou University in July 1997. From
April 1992 to July 2000, Mr. Liao worked as a salesman at Huizhou
Jiangbei Building Material Company* (RJN)Tit&EHM 2 R]), a company
primarily engaged in the trading business, with his last position being a
manager. Mr. Liao then worked as a factory manager at Boluo County
Shiwan Chuangmei Printing Factory* ({82 & f & A&IS<ENfFIRR) from
August 2000 to July 2009.

* for identification purposes only
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Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wai Shing Kevin (FR{EX), aged 49, was appointed as the
finance and accounts manager of Charming Printing in February 2016 and
the company secretary on 17 May 2019. Mr. Chan obtained a diploma
in accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known
as Shue Yan College) in July 1998. He was then awarded a diploma in
operating business in China and a diploma in professional management
for China business from the City University of Hong Kong in April 2004
and October 2004, respectively. Mr. Chan has been a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since August
2008 and a member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administration since February 2010. In view of Mr. Chan's experience in
legal and company secretarial functions and with stock exchange rules
and regulations, our Directors believe that Mr. Chan has the appropriate
expertise for the purposes of Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the provisions of
the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands, every Director
or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the
year.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares of
the Company (“Shares”), underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed
to have taken, under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code"), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

A, EERFETHAERAARNEEEEER
DRBEARD ZBER, AR

M2023%12A31H - ARBEEREETR
ANBEARRREEREE(EERES R
B &P (RS RERD ) EXVE) HA R
Bt ([ ) - B R ESTHA (a) R
EH R AEEPIEXVERE7 R8N #E - AME AR
REIREZPAOERTAR (BERBEES R
HIE RO A B SUE E (E AR E R B My iz AN
KA - ROREEZ KR FRDIF362FA L
BRARBHEESLMANERNAR © ()
BB ETRRIMSRCIME EMEITABERETT
EHRSOEETA([RESFR ) AMERR
AR R PRV S AR R IAT

A e (T 4
RAR AN E TR %

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s/
the associate

Company/ Number and company'’s
name of associated Nature of interest class of total issued
Name of director company and capacity securities share capital
e N
BERE
BRTRAEE
EEHA AAR/HEAREE ERMtER S5 EHYHERER MEAE D
Chan Sing Ming Barry ~ The Company Interest in a controlled 1,308,000,000 65.4%
(“Mr. Barry Chan”) corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
BREEEA([REHEE]) ARF REtAE R (7t 1)(Hfa2)  1,308,000,0008% M 15
Charming International Limited Beneficial owner 51 shares of 51.0%
(“Charming International ) US$1.00 each
Charming International Limited ~ Ez#A A 510%
(['Charming International |) R .00 TR D
Law Miu Lan The Company Interest in a controlled 1,308,000,000 65.4%
(“Ms. Candy Law ") corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
BYB(BPELZLT]) A2F REtEE RS (M7t 1) (Hfa2)  1,308,000,0008% M 17
Charming International Beneficial owner 49 shares of 49.0%
US$1.00 each
E=BAA 4958
Fi%1.00% TR D
Chan Tsz Fung The Company Beneficial owner 12,000,000 0.6%
shares

BRfeie ENC| BREAA

12,000,000/ /15
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Notes:

1. Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued
share capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,308,000,000 Shares.
Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in
1,308,000,000 Shares held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure
requirements of the SFO.

2. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law. Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms.
Candy Law are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other by virtue of
the SFO.

Short positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and/or chief executive of the Company nor their associates
had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which each of them has
taken or deemed to have taken under the SFO), or which would be
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register required to be kept therein or which would be required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests and/
or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

As at the date of this annual report, the following persons (other than
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) have interests
of 5% or more in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Wit

1. BMEBRTERBEY @ Z LS AHEHA Charming
International 8951% &% 49% B & TR A + il Charming
International fll#¥ %4 1,308,000,0008& #k 5 - EIt + RI&
BERPEGRIINRERT  REPLTERBYH LT
#%18 A Charming Internationali¥ 4 #71,308,000,000
BRARAR RS M 25 o

2. BRERTE[SBEYBMRLTZES- Bt REESFRS
BIED - REATERBEYRLAIREEREZARE
2D 2 HER o

B EXCEr#FEE SN - 1A2023F12831H » #f
BEEYN AR ETEBTHRAEREBE A
RARQ RSk E AR AR (E&RES K
EIEBPIEXVER) MIRRG - HERD S EEEF
BEHS AR AEEREES KRB GIIEXVED
BT RESH EBAME AN A) KB <2 By 69 (T ] 4
ZoAR (BIEREES RBEKRIESHE
Ek G ABAENERLAR) IBRBEESLHR
BB IEHI BE352{EBR AR RRBEENERD
e ERSAR - RRIBZESTRIENS
RA R RE R TR SRR ©

FERRREMATRAQ B RO REERSD
2R BKAE
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HFEZEREROT ¢ 2023 FERSE

a



42

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Capacity/ total issued

Name of shareholder nature of interest Number of shares share capital
RN

ERITRARE

IRR B B0/ REntE BRHEE MR B2
Charming International Beneficial interest (Note) 1,308,000,000 65.4%

Bt (ffa)

Note:

Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued share
capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,308,000,000 Shares. Accordingly,
Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in 1,308,000,000 Shares

held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure requirements of the SFO.

Short positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated

corporations

As at 31 December 2023, no person, other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and/or
short positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company”
above, had registered an interest or a short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register of

interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 21 February
2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). On 15 September 2020, the
Company granted a total of 2,000,000 shares options with an exercise
price of HK$0.057 per share under the Share Option Scheme to one
of our senior management carrying rights to subscribe for up to a total
of 2,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. The details are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.
50% of the 2,000,000 share options granted shall be exercisable from
31 December 2021 (instead of 1 January 2022) to 14 September 2025,
and the remaining 50% shall be exercisable from 31 December 2023
(instead of 1 January 2024) to 14 September 2025. The 2,000,000 share
options granted are valid for 5 years from the date of grant (up to 14
September 2025). The said share options granted will lapse automatically
if not exercised within the validity period. The closing price of the
Shares before the date of grant of the share options under the Share
Option Scheme was HK$0.059. As at the date of the Annual Report,
200,000,000 Shares are available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme, representing approximately 10.0% of the total number of
Shares in issue (i.e. 2,000,000,000 Shares as at the date of the Annual
Report). Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and Rule 17.03(5) of the
Listing Rules, the Shares under an option granted under the Share Option
Scheme must be taken up within 10 years from the date of grant of the
option. No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
during FY2023.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time. No options may be granted under any schemes of the Company or
the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will result in the maximum
number being exceeded. The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue (i.e. 200,000,000 Shares as at the date of
this annual report). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme or any other schemes will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted under Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
then in issue. Any further grant of the options in excess of this limit is
subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Each grant of
option under the Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any
grant of option under the Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other conditions that
must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised upon the grant of an
option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted under
the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five business
days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option (which must be a business day (as defined in the
Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

The Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the
Listing Date.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by or subsisted in the Company, and there was no provision
to enter into any agreement which will or may result in the Company
issuing shares during the year.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company or chief executives or any of their spouse or children under the
age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued Shares was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. A resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the 2024
AGM.

By Order of the Board
Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Cirtek Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cirtek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 52 to 156, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

BRET SR
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statements.

Key audit matter
BRENSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENETNMEEERETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

2 2 BUGRRRNBER G

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded trade
receivables of approximately HK$45,566,000 before
impairment of HK$654,000. Under HKFRS 9, the Group
accounted for the impairment of trade receivables with an
expected credit loss ("ECL") approach. The measurement
on the Group's trade receivables under the ECL approach
was estimated by management through the application of
judgements and use of highly subjective assumptions. The
impact of current economic factors, and forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors were also considered in
management’s assessment of the likelihood of recovery from
customers.

20235 12H318 © BEEKEE S EKFIEL 45,566,000
77T (HBRIR (B 654,000 7TAT) - IRIBESM B ME LR EQ
5 ERENABEEEE(EREEEREDFEBE SRR
RIEREARK - AEHEEEESAE BXEZEZEKFIE
DHEEREFBERAE RS EFHRBELMGE - EREHK
Bl% S FIEM Al e FTERT AR E Z B B RTCERE RN B AR
BB ANEAELEE -

Due to the significance of trade receivables and the application
of significant judgement and estimates, we considered it as a
key audit matter.

HRESREFEEEX - BERAERAE Rt EER
RERAEETEE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BB BERRRA S EmRM T4k 21 -

Our audit procedures included assessing the controls
over the monitoring of trade receivables; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the ECLs; obtaining an understanding of and
discussing with management on the judgement used under
the ECL approach; assessing historical loss pattern and
reviewing subsequent settlements after the year end; and
assessing the current economic condition and forward-
looking information by checking the economic indicators.
EENEAEFEETAERE S BUGIANEZEEE : &7
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BRENSE

BREFSEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEMNFTUMEERREENSE

Provision for inventories

FERE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded inventories of
approximately HK$70,163,000 and reversal of write-down
of inventories to net realisable value of HK$1,135,000 was
recognised during the year. The write-down of inventories to
net realisable value was estimated by management through
the application of judgement and the use of highly subjective
assumptions, such as the estimated selling price.
7K2023F12H318 - SEEEB57FE#70,163,000% 7T * I
RFEARRTE Wﬂz%@iT“ﬁ@ﬁ1w5w&%m &
WO Z=rT &3 FE R B IR E % B R A A KSR B RRED
et (st HEEE) -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRABBEHN R A M REMFE4R%20 -

Our audit procedures included obtaining an understanding of
management’s controls over identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory items
whose costs may not be fully recoverable; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the provision; assessing the inventory provision
by reviewing subsequent sales and usage after the year end
and checking the latest selling prices; and observing physical
condition of inventories by performing physical inventory
inspection.

EENENRETFEEEREBEYNZFIRE - 812 FiH -
BEREAT—EAI 2B BN EMFERE R ETEE
WEZRE T BESERGEREBRABRE BABER

B BBRNFRARBHERHEREABRAGEES %ﬁ&
BESIHHEER  URBBETENTEREEHERFE

BEMR -

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

S A4S 32

?“vT\ (=] E\fﬁﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 THExT T
REVENUE Uk %5 6 372,310 408,572
Cost of sales SHERK AR (209,757) (235,116)
Gross profit EF 162,553 173,456
Other income and gains E A KW as 6 6,061 9,516
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAS (59,524) (53,435)
Administrative expenses THRX (121,050) (113,424)
Other operating income, net HE g A SF 5 4,067 6,400
Impairment of non-financial assets I REERE (8,065) (1,5634)
Finance costs BLE AR 8 (3,164) (2,203)
Share of losses of an associate b — g E A Bl E e (528) =
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX B AR (FE) 7 (19,650) 18,776
Income tax expense FriSfi Az 1 (6,026) (6,218)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR RATHEEAEEER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF wmAlL ()
THE COMPANY (25,676) 12,558
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE RABEEANEEER HK cents HK cents
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF BF, (&) B Al
THE COMPANY
— Basic — &K 18 (1.28) 0.63
HK cents HK cents
AL il
- Diluted — 88 (1.28) 0.63
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

™ AL 2,
?RIT\ = %@ 1451 m
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FriaR, (FE) (25,676) 12,5568
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hih 2 EEE
Other comprehensive loss that REZBEETREERHEE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BaEMEMmEmEmESR :
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: FEHZH
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BEGINETSELER
operations, net R EEEE (14,560) (17,971)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR AATEBEAEEFER
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 2HEEBEEEE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (40,236) (5,413)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE AR R
As at 31 December 2023
#2023F12A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
M EE THET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB K& 14 141,157 130,707
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 15 31,038 36,184
Prepayments and deposits A ZRERIES 22 2,671 9,556
Goodwill [EES 16 - 361
Other intangible assets HEmEmpaE 17 675 6,055
Financial asset at fair value BRATEFABRN
through profit or loss SRBE 18 5,940 5,803
Investment in an associate R—HEEE R NERE 19 5,681 -
Deferred tax assets B IEEE 27 506 504
Total non-current assets EmEEELE 187,668 189,170
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories T8 20 70,163 68,758
Trade receivables B 5 WK IE 21 44,912 42,923
Prepayments, deposits and TEfFIE - Re &
other receivables H th fE W R I8 22 17,877 16,982
Pledged deposits BRI F R 23 14,575 14,138
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEEEEY 23 34,158 62,325
Tax recoverable aJ Uk [l 7 18 72 771
Total current assets MENEELE 181,757 205,897
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Trade payables B S RN IE 24 57,323 53,572
Other payables and accruals HithfEN R IE R EATE 25 51,167 40,808
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT BIRITIESK 26 21,784 17,865
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 10,401 14,979
Tax payable JERT IR 12,484 8,297
Total current liabilities mE A EERE 153,159 135,521
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 28,598 70,376
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERAERRBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 216,266 259,546
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables H e 5008 25 3,417 442
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT BERITIE R 26 1,331 3,017
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 14,664 15,209
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIIE A & 27 1,822 1,618
Total non-current liabilities EREBEEE 21,234 20,286
Net assets EEFE 195,032 239,260
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to owners of RATEE AELER
the Company
Share capital A% A 28 20,000 20,000
Reserves B 30 175,032 219,260
Total equity B 195,032 239,260

CHAN Sing Ming Barry [REZEH
Chairman and Executive Director

FERHTEE
Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report
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Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

nVT\

N TES

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARERAER
Share  Exchange
Share Share Merger option  fluctuation Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits equity
KA ki iaE BHfRE  BRERE NERDREE REE7 BRAH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tix Tix Tr Tix Tix Tar Fix
(note 28)  (note 30(c))  (note 30(a)) (note 29)  (note 30(b))
(Hs28)  (MizE30(c)  (PH7E30(a)) (MFE29)  (MIzE30(0)
At 1 January 2022 1202281 A18 20,000 277,051 (193,538) 35 (559) 146,677 249,666
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 12,558 12,658
Other comprehensive FREMZEBE
loss for the year
Exchange differences on translation AERNEBEER
of foreign operations, net EREETE - - - - (17,971) = (17,971)
Total comprehensive incomeffloss) for ~ ERZ AN /()
the year pek] - - - - (17,971) 12,558 (5,413)
Equity-settled share option arrangement  RAL S8 ik it
(note 29) (PizE29) - - - 7 - = 7
Final dividend (note 12) RERE(HE12) - - - - - (5,000) (5,000]
At 31 December 2022 and "2022% 123318 K
1 January 2023 2023F1 718 20,000 2717,051* (193,538)* 42* (18,530)* 154,235* 239,260
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (25,676) (25,676)
Other comprehensive FREMZEER
loss for the year
Exchange differences on translation BEEINEREER
of foreign operations, net EREETE - - - - (14,560) - (14,560)
Total comprehensive loss for the year — FAZAEEEESE - - - - (14,560) (25,676) (40,236)
Equity-settled share option arrangement  [R A& EBREEL
(note 29) (Miz¥29) - - - 8 - - 8
Final dividend (note 12) RERE (H712) = = = = = (4,000) (4,000)
At 31 December 2023 12023%12A31H 20,000 277,051* (193,538)* 50* (33,090)* 124,559* 195,032

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$175,032,000 (2022:

HK$219,260,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

L REARMBRIERA -

77T (20224 ¢ 219,260,000 7T) ©

ZEHBREERAH#1175,032,000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERENER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FHxT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KETE2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BELRTREF (&) (19,650) 18,776
Adjustments for: AT SEELFHE
Finance costs BhE B AR 8 3,164 2,203
Share of losses of an associate HiG—EEE A R &S 528 -
Interest income F B U A 6 (652) (471)
COVID-19-related rent concessions KA HHEARCOVID-19
from lessors EEESER 6 - (179)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair R A FEFAEBRNS R
value through profit or loss, net BEZNFHERGFE 6 (137) (198)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BERRETE
equipment 7 17,693 15,433
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 7 12,832 11,919
Amortisation of other intangible assets H i 4 A 7 752 345
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWZE - BB REE
plant and equipment, net B W Esi8F R 7 217 154
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of B 5 rEWRIERRIE,
trade receivables, net CRERE ) FE 7 (176) 674
Impairment of goodwill EERE 7 361 1,634
Impairment of other intangible assets Hibmp & ERE 7 4,615 =
Impairment of investment in R 2 A R AR E
an associate 7 3,089 N
Reversal of provision for inventories FEEERR 7 (1,135) (433)
Equity-settled share option expense IR 45 55 B AR i B S 8 7
Amortisation of a government grant BT 78 B 5 5H (134) (140)
21,375 49,624
Increase in inventories FEE (5,135) (9,391)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables & 5 FEURIA (18 h0), /5 (4,744) 8,030
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, AR - e REMERK
deposits and other receivables FIEG M), R (3,094) 1,503
Increase in trade payables B 5 FE {5 IE38 0 5,316 800
Increase in other payables HEENRIBRETEA
and accruals 30 8,042 2,912
Cash generated from operations REREHRS 21,760 53,478
Hong Kong profits tax paid B EBFEH - (385)
Overseas taxes paid B REINEIE (508) (4,841)
Net cash flows from operating activities K& EBFTSRESMEIFE 21,252 48,252
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBDH2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B4 FIE 652 471
Purchases of items of property, plant BEWE - BEMZEER
and equipment, including related (BiEEEEMIE)
prepayments (32,112) (53,060)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  BEKXEEREB
property, plant and equipment KIFT1S 5K IE 3,693 32
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B — M B AR 31 - (5,890)
Investment in an associate R— & R RIMRE (3,061) —
Proceeds from disposal of financial asset H&EEA L EE AR
at fair value through profit or loss ZEeMEENMERE = 85
Increase in pledged time deposits B E B A8 0 (304) (10,117)
Net cash flows used in investing activities & & EEFTER R EF5HE (31,132) (68,479)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RAERERER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMETHHERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FTILIRITE R 17,863 13,000
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER (19,721) (8,841)
Interest paid BEAFLE (3,164) (2,203)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRNARESHS (12,026) (10,891)
Dividend paid EfIRE (4,000) (5,000)
Net cash flows used in financing activities g& & EFTH
BeReFH (21,048) (13,935)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HEeERBEESEEY
EQUIVALENTS AR (30,928) (34,162)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#H & RESZEEY
of year 66,346 102,101
Effect of foreign exchange rate [EREEN T EFEE
changes, net (1,197) (1,593)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT SARBEERBELZEY
END OF YEAR 34,221 66,346
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRReLENERIW
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITEES 23 34,158 52,291
Non-pledged time deposits with original 7R FE =187 N2
maturity of less than three months IR BT IR
when acquired 23 - 10,034
Cash and cash equivalents as stated YR BARAKNER S R
in the statement of financial position HEEEY 34,158 62,325
Time deposits with original maturity GERERE=@ANIHA
of less than three months when B ARITERNERERZ
acquired, pledged as security TEHATE R
for bank loans 23 4,154 4,021
Bank overdrafts RITEY 26 (4,091) =
Cash and cash equivalents as stated 2IRBEEeRERNES R
in the statement of cash flows HEEEY 34,221 66,346

HFEZEREROT ¢ 2023 FERSE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands. The registered office address of the Company
is Third Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is located at 1/F, Wing Ming Industrial Centre, 15
Cheung Yue Street, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year,
the Group was principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of
printing products.

On 12 March 2020, the shares of the Company were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

Charming International Limited (“Charming International”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"”) on 2
January 2019, is the immediate holding company of the Company,
and, in the opinion of the Directors, is also the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIRS SRR M

31 December 2023
2023F12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. AEAREBER(E
Information about subsidiaries S A B E R
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: AKARMBRARMNFEBEHIT :
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
) ST, BROEER/ -
AR BB aEfii B R & St B HfRA RABELERADL FTEXR
Direct Indirect
J=¢ i
Cirtek Investment Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
EBRHE (E REER
Charming Printing Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
SXHRIERAR BE 10,000/ 70 HEDRIER
Charming Printing (Boluo) Ltd. (note (a)) ~ People's Republic of US$6,234,178 - 100 Manufacturing and sale of
BESEEIRERAR (M) China (“PRC") 6,234,178% T printing products
mEARLME ([HE]) EERHENRER
Charming Trim & Packaging (VN) Co., Ltd. Vietnam US$3,100,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale of
e 3,100,000% T printing products
EERHENRER
Charming Trim & Packaging Company Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Dormant
Limited & 2ET R
Charming Trim & Packaging (BD) Ltd. Bangladesh BDT50,000,000 - 100  Manufacturing and sale of
9 I 50,000,000 printing products
RMAER EERHENRER
Charming Trim (BD) Co. Ltd. Bangladesh BDT5,000,000 - 100  Dormant
a9 I 5,000,000 W EE
RIMAER
Charming Trim India Private Limited India INR100,000 - 100  Manufacturing and sale of
N 100,000EEE L printing products
EERHEDRER
Charming Trim & Packaging (PVT.) Limited Pakistan PKR100,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
BEHA 100,000 HEDRIER
EEAAEL
Charming Trim & Packaging, Inc United States of US$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
America 10,000% 7T and provision of
ENBERE customer services
HENRERRRHEP
fR#5
Lowatag Limited Hong Kong HK$150,002 - 100  Investment holding
BE 150,002 7T REER
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2023F12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. RAREBER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

MEARNER(E)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
; ML,/ EERARER/ \
NEBE MR R EfRA AAFELERT DL TEER
Direct Indirect
HE GofE
Charming Europe BVBA Belgium EUR50,000 - 100 Provision of customer
AL 50,0008 T services
RAEE P RS
Cirtek Link Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
FERUNBERAT B 10,0007 7T BAEZR
Cirtek Link (Shenzhen) Limited (note (b)) ~ PRC US$1,000,000 - 100  Provision of customer
BERE R BR AR (D) HE 1,000,000% 7 services
REE P RS
Charming Trim Etiket Limited Sirketi Turkey TL10,000,000 - 100  Manufacturing and sale of
THH 10,000,000 printing products
THASN HERHENRER
Charming Trim Italy SRL Italy EUR10,000 - 100 Provision of customer
BEAM 10,0008 T services
RER P RS
Charming Trim & Packaging Sociedad Guatemala (6TQ499,900 - 100  Provision of customer
Anonima B EH 499,900/ 54 services
KRER REZPRB
Charming Trim Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico MXN2,600,000 - 100  Provision of customer
BREF 2,600,0002FFHE services
REZPRSE
Charming Trim Lanka Limited Sri Lanka LKR1,000 = 100  Dormant
LIE RS 1,004 2 REL W
Print100 Limited (note (c)) Hong Kong HK$15,997,980 - 100  Manufacturing and sale of
R 28R AR (M) BB 15,997,980/ T printing products
FERHERIER
Yinyibai Digital Color Printing (Shenzhen) ~ PRC RMB100,000 - 100  Product sourcing
Co. Limited (note (b)) HE AR#100,0007T business
HZREIBH ORI BRAR (b)) EmREER
Charming Trim Spain, Sociedad Limited Spain EUR5,000 - 100  Provision of customer
il 5,0008 T services

Notes:

(a)  This entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the laws of the

PRC:

(b)  These entities are registered as limited liability companies under the laws of the PRC.

(¢) In the prior year, the Group acquired Print100 Limited. Further details of this
acquisition are included in note 31 to the financial statements.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M AT
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2023F12H31H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss which has been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between shareholders of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report
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2023%12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’'s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material
accounting policy information in note 3 to the financial
statements. The amendments did not have any impact on
the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items
in the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group's approach
and policy align with the amendments, the amendments had
no impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Continued)

(c) Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments, the
Group applied the initial recognition exception and did
not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences for transactions related
to leases. The Group has applied the amendments on
temporary differences related to leases as at 1 January
2022. Upon initial application of these amendments, the
Group recognised (i) a deferred tax asset for all deductible
temporary differences associated with lease liabilities
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available), and (ii)
a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences
associated with right-of-use assets at 1 January 2022.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately, which have
been reflected in the reconciliation disclosed in note 27
to the financial statements. However, they did not have
any material impact on the overall deferred tax balances
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
as the related deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under HKAS 12.

(d) Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities
to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group
did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules,
the amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs,
if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)" 4
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”)’ 4
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements’
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

C As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was

revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2023
2023F12H31H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M AT

31 December 2023
2023F12H31H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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31 December 2023
2023F12H31H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements
in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments is
permitted. The amendments provide certain transition reliefs
regarding comparative information, quantitative information
as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M AT

31 December 2023
2023F12H31H

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investment in an associate is stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment
in the associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of the associate is included as part of the Group’s
investment in an associate.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other case, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

ERSHEERE
EREHRBEE)

45 i M 0 3 40 A (T S SR A B M 2
MATERR - HEAEELRBOIARE
BATENEAATEBDRB®ER - 518
BEXNRARBTEENHE - MAREL
CON LN B

PSR E - BIEERERE  BER
FERESSBRMARELARFENRKES
P HEE B (o] 2 S B2 48 R H PR UK B PT 381 B
ENMAEBBRER o ML AEREMEAR
EEFMERATE B EEN D TE  AEER
R B AR IME AR REERE RS -

RIFHERE - BRI RERER
BitE - BESFSERENR  XHMBAEH
RENSBHBETEREENRLORAE  AgE
BEMETAR - AREM2AN A EEHE
ETFERRENA - SURERAME - REH
aotPEBNREEaRERRESKERY
AREHEENHR R EHERNAEEEZR
SEABURRSELBUAR  MAmAE
EHEMEEXRBRE I REGHEMREN
eV

BERENEFENReELBN(REEL
BRAARNMAIKRE BN HEE - MR
EEBM(ReELEMARN) M HE S EE
REEHE  AERNESE - EEROEER
EEETENMEDRED -

HFEZEREROT ¢ 2023 FERSE

7



72

NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2023
2023F12H31H

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories
and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’'s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

ERSHERE
M - BERRBUARITE

ME - WE KRB (BRERIRIN TIARAR
R E RMEARERRE - X - BER
REEBNKABEREBEEREREEEZS
HEE REe 2 &M Mg B e (E R B R Eh
DN

WE - BERRBRBFRGEFREENFX
(P Rrs) - RRELRAXBREER
KPR ©

ENAERGN  REREEASREER
EERRFTEARIEE L - R 2 THERY
% BELRBEKRID @ AAREERZE
BoRAREANERFHRNENEE - LR
IE -

WEDRZAME - BERRERBNMGA
ERAFHRERAESREEMEERAEERIRE
BFE - BULPIRAMEZF XN ¢

THEWEEE R A
[R5 R i B3 10%
R REE 20%
RE 20%

H—EME BEAXEBARENERESFE
TARAMERFEY - QBB WKRARRAEE
ERERBY ZBEHOE - MBS0 RES
VHERE - RREE  AIEAFHRNES
ERELERPBERETRE MAAE(NE
R) -

WE - BERREER (BREEIACNSER
MERID)EHERERAEERIHLEDR
BIERARRSE R R R IR - REERLE
ERNEER R P RAN D EXFERNEIM
Wt sk B R AR E E R h &SI F AR A
FREEMNZER -

R TR ARAR AR EEED R - B3

FE - AR TRIL AR EREERDREY
% BELRRENGEER -

HFEZEREROT ¢ 2023 FERSE

75



76

NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2023
2023F12H31H

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Software licences and trademark

Purchased software licences and trademark are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-
of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings
Plant and machinery

2 to 30 years
10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of
an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
its short-term leases of building, and machinery and equipment
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
the equity investments are also recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and
interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

* in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a) Sale of printing products

Revenue from the sale of printing products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the printing products.

Some contracts for the sale of printing products provide
customers with rights of return and volume rebates, giving rise
to variable consideration.

(i)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the Group
estimates the goods that will not be returned using the
most likely amount method to predict the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.

Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the
expected value method for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts
the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by
the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a refund liability for the
expected future rebates is recognised.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Freight and transportation income is recognised when the services
have been provided to customers.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods to the customer).

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level
of returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned
goods.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at
the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange
for equity instruments (“Equity-Settled Transactions”).

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 29 to the financial
statements.

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for Equity-Settled
Transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes in Hong Kong and overseas for those employees who
are eligible and have elected to participate in the schemes.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the schemes, except for the Group's employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the memorandum and bye-laws of the relevant companies
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable
to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rate for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and
assessing the constraint for the sale of printing products

Certain contracts for the sale of printing products include a right
of return that give rises to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use either the
expected value method or the most likely amount method based on
which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the most likely amount method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable consideration
for the sale of printing products with rights of return, given the large
number of customer contracts that have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that the
estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based on its
historical experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable consideration
will be resolved within a short time frame.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its items of property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and its competitor actions. Management
will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are shorter
than those previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete assets that have been abandoned.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the printing
product sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables is disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

Write-down of inventories

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group
and makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use.
Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and assesses whether any provision made
against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management reassesses
the estimation at the end of each reporting period.

The identification of obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact on
the carrying values of inventories and the write-down of inventories
recognised in the periods in which such estimates have been
changed. The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December
2023 was HK$70,163,000 (2022: HK$68,758,000).

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2023 was nil (2022: HK$361,000) and impairment
of goodwill of HK$361,000 (2022: HK$1,534,000) was recognised
during the year. Further details are given in note 16.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other
non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Purchase price allocation of a business combination

The purchase price allocation of the Group’s business combination,
as detailed in note 31 to the financial statements, requires the
determination of fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The net assets acquired, include amongst others,
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, of which
their fair values are dependent on a range of estimates including
estimated future cash flows of the underlying business, discount
rate and interest rate. Given the uncertainties in the estimation, the
actual outcomes may be higher or lower than the estimated fair
values of these items as at the date of acquisition. Where the actual
outcomes of these items are different from the amounts initially
recorded, such differences may impact the future financial results.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable
operating segment, which is the manufacture and sale of printing
products.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

waEsHE

I

HRERANME  AREES —{E 2H/E
DED - AVAEERHEERIER

Hh 15 & B

(@) ShapE Pl

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET T

Chinese Mainland R B A 128,401 137,517
Hong Kong BE 54,721 78,373
Bangladesh EawiiEavs 50,696 60,481
Turkey +TEH 19,599 7,575
India E 17,992 15,161
United States of America EFREREHA 10,712 16,655
Vietnam FE) 30,010 43,526
Other countries/regions HaER = 60,179 49,284
Total revenues PGy 372,310 408,572

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

(b) Non-current assets

il ER RETEPAER 27 -

(b) FEFCBEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Chinese Mainland R A 72,813 80,168
Bangladesh Ea)[1Eay) 52,248 45,594
Vietnam o] 8,349 9,958
Hong Kong B 20,707 29,633
Other countries/regions HiEZR, & 24,697 14,850
Total non-current assets IEmEEELE 178,814 180,203

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.
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5.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about a major customer

Revenue from a major customer, including a group of entities which
are known to be under common control with that customer, which

RAGFREERZ10%RIA LN —BEBES
(BREEMEZEPZARZEHN—AEE) DN

accounted for 10% or more of the Group's revenue is set out below: WESEHHI R -
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Customer A BEFEA N/A*
i A * 43,501

*

The revenue from the above major customer was all derived from

Less than 10% of the Group's revenue

the sale of printing products.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns, trade discounts and rebates.

o ORAKEREZ10%

[s[alig

6. Wi - A A R K

WastEEHIRERE

HEEMIERHE -

KE L E2RFPHREHES B HENRE

B ZHREMEEERE

An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income and gains is as AEER W - A ARKZEATAT -
follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEH W
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) WzsZ| 789 EF
Types of goods or services EmsiRisER
Sale of printing products SHEERIE R 372,310 408,572
Geographical markets #1545
Chinese Mainland B 128,401 137,517
Hong Kong B 54,721 78,373
Bangladesh gk 50,696 60,481
Turkey +HH 19,599 7,575
India ENfE 17,992 15,161
United States of America EFIEREREH 10,712 16,655
Vietnam W 30,010 43,526
Other countries/regions HiBER, & 60,179 49,284
Total revenue from contracts with customers REA BN 372,310 408,572
Timing of revenue recognition e SR Ui Y B RS
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—RFHEZEZLN
B 372,310 408,572
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised

W - EAbW AR KRS (&

TRITRFENFAGOAENDERK

that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of HEE
the year:
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Sale of printing products $5E EN Rl EE oh 9,564 10,975
(i) Performance obligations (i) JEAIEF
Sale of printing products 25 & E1f5) Z dn

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
printing products and payment is generally due within 30 to 90
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. Some contracts provide
customers with a right of return which gives rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint.

As the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially satisfied) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are part of
contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or
less, the transaction price allocated to such is not disclosed, as
permitted by the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Other income and gains include the following:

6.

Wz - EAbW AR WS ()

HMWA R KRG BIEATRE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHT
Other income and gains H g A & Wi
Freight and transportation income BiERERKA 1,212 2,365
Interest income FEHA 652 471
Sale of scrap materials SHEBEEMH 1,567 2,133
Government grants* BT B * 592 2,622
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors 3 & H 7 ABICOVID-19487
HeEE - 179
Fair value gain on financial assets at BERAFEFABRNEREE
fair value through profit or loss, net AN ENEFE 137 198
Others Hith 1,901 1,548
Total Feb 6,061 9,516

The government grants have been received from the local government. It mainly
represented compensation of the unemployment insurance paid to the local
government and the acquisition of the Group’s new machines, whose compensation
are transferred from deferred income to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
relevant assets, and the government grant from the Employment Support Scheme
from the Hong Kong government in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
were no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to the government
grants that had been recognised by the Group.

* BB E B I AT R o HE B IR E M BUT X A
WRERBEERKEREENIES - TABHER
HHREEFRAYEREETERSEEEER  UREEK
F# £20234 K% 2022F 12 A31 B IEFE $#COVID-19
HBEHREN R E S BUTHEL - 12023F K&
2022412 A31 8 + 7%k @ B WER &9 BT # Bh I £ BT 75
RER AR E M AEE -
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7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BRBRER(E5E)

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

AEBMBRBADER(BR) &R (GEA)

(crediting): TEEIBEER
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 3E FHExT T
Cost of sales* SHE R AR 209,757 235,116
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BENKRETE
equipment 14 17,693 15,433
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEERE 15 12,832 11,919
Amortisation of other intangible assets — E & Ay 17 752 345
Short-term lease expenses EHEERY 15 969 1,161
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERMAX (TR
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): EEFHM(KIEE9)) -
Wages and salaries TITERFHS 138,986 138,856
Pension scheme contributions RIREFHEIE R
(defined contribution scheme)** (REMHIRGETE)** 14,669 17,843
Total Bzt 153,655 156,699
Auditor’s remuneration % S B 3 B 2,160 2,200
Foreign exchange gain, net* b 5 a5 RE (4,109) (7,228)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of B S W IERE,
trade receivables, net* CRiBERmE ) ExE* 21 (176) 674
Impairment of goodwill*** BB E*** 16 361 1,634
Impairment of investment in R—HEEERAFNERE
an associate*** TR *** 19 3,089 -
Impairment of other intangible assets*** H i £ 74 = 5 (E * * * 17 4,615 =
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BER
plant and equipment, net* RAETE B R EER e 217 154

These items are included in “Other operating income, net” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

**  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

These items are included in “Impairment of non-financial assets” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

+ Cost of inventories sold includes HK$65,322,000 (2022: HK$72,439,000) of employee
benefit expense, and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets which are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed above for
each of these types of expenses. Included in cost of sales was also the reversal of
provision for inventories of HK$1,135,000 (2022: HK$433,000) for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RIEMA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BB ARSI :
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITERREBEZFE 1,346 469
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 1,818 1,734
Total 3,164 2,203
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 9. EENTETHAEMS
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed BiE EWHRR - B AMEHIZE383(1)(a)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of (b) * () R(MEARRABIRBEESFRER )R
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BIE2BEENAFEEERETETHASM
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is ST
as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FH&T
Fees e 540 540
Other emoluments: HEMe :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REVMER 3,470 2,980
Performance related bonuses FIRMBRATEAT 1,316 2,000
Pension scheme contributions BB ETEIMER 54 53
Subtotal /NEt 4,840 5,033
Total fees and other emoluments wE REMME A% 5,380 5,673

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
year were as follows:

(a) BIFHTES
FAXNTEBILIFRTEENRENT

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHT

Ms. Luk Mei Yan FEEX R L+ 180 180
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELAE 180 180
Mr. Lam Chor Ki, Dick MR E 180 180
Total #E 540 540

There were no other emoluments payable to independent non-
executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).

FRIEEN FBILIERTESHE N
(20224 : &)
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 9. ESERIETHAEME(E

(Continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) HITESE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
iR 19 53] il
ik BNEA BB BE L5 act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT THEL TAT THL
Year ended 31 December 2023 EHZ2023F12831B1LEE
Mr. Barry Chan RERLE - 1,570 402 18 1,990
Ms. Candy Law BEYBRRT - 1,312 570 18 1,900
Mr. James Chan -5 - 588 344 18 950
Total @t - 3,470 1316 54 4,840
Year ended 31 December 2022 BHZE202251283MBLLEE
Mr. Barry Chan BRER 5 - 1,284 800 18 2,102
Ms. Candy Law EYBaL - 1,132 800 18 1,950
Mr. James Chan RS - 564 400 17 981
Total @ = 2,930 2,000 53 5,033
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or ERN - BEEREIULHERERRERE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2022: Nil). R 3N (20224 : %) o
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the FER - ANEEBREREZESS NG A
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or INAZN = B sk h0 A B B A2 Eh sk BE B e 12 ©

as compensation for loss of office.
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2023F12H31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two directors (2022: one director) of the Company, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022: four) highest

10. EEERSHES

paid employees who are not directors of the Company are as

FR - AEREFEEBEARRMA (2022
F:—F)EE  HFEWFHBIN L9 -
NRABBT=ZE(2022F : ME)FEEHRS
FREENANFENFMNFBEIHOT

follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#ET FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RENBEWER 7,269 9,726
Pension scheme contributions RIKESFTEIEK 233 285
Total “Et 7,502 10,011

The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose

BRIATHMAESNIEFESHER ARD

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: o

2023 2022

20234 20224

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T2 1,500,000/ 7T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ T %2,500,00078 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 T £3,000,0007 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T23,500,00078 7T 1 1
Total st 3 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the non-director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2022: B (20224 « M) -

Nil).
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11. INCOME TAX

1. FiB#H

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2022: HK$2,000,000)
of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2022:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%). PRC tax has been provided at the rate of 256% (2022:
25%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC during
the year. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States
of America, a company which is treated as a corporation for the
United States federal income tax purposes was subject to tax at a
rate of 21% (2022: 21%) at the federal level during the year and was
also subject to the statutory corporate income tax in state and local
tax jurisdictions. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

BIEHSHEREBRELESHINKLBE
REBMBERHSHE R EBE TS HN
TAMEBH - FRN - BAFNEHECRRNES
EENMEFERBEAFIZ16.5% (20224F -
16.5% ) T RHR BB - HASE—HWERQ
BRI - ZMB AR ARAFESHMAHNE
B2 o ZMB AT EE2,000,000/8 7T (20224 ¢
2,000,000/ 7T ) H & 2R 7 ) 71128.25% (2022
& :8.25%) M REF - 2 T ERBHEFIA
$16.5% (20224 : 16.5% ) T REH -
EHIE I E AR R BREEN G EREER
R R 25% (20224 : 25% ) sHIR B - 1R1E
EHRERBOMEARAG - FAGREBFEE
s HRAZESENA R HEKZ21% (2022
F 1 21%) M REREFH - VAR NG
Kb 5 IS Al AR A A E S EATER - £ H
fth 3 5 Sh FE SR B M B AN R B E R A S B
A FTEBR R E TR RAE -

2023 2022
2023%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Current — Hong Kong BNH— &%

Charge for the year FRAX 1,214 239
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (31) (219)

Current — Elsewhere BHA— HE fibih [
Charge for the year FRAX 4,568 5,976
Deferred (note 27) BRI (M15E27) 275 222
Total tax charge for the year FRHRIBR T 258 6,026 6,218
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. FIiEH(&E

BEEERXEARKB AR, (BE)HH

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before

tax at the statutory rate to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is

ARXBREERREORBREROT

as follows:
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax BERET(EE) (19,650) 18,776
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% BAERE16.6% T EMFIE (3,242) 3,098
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority 5 & BB RBER X (1,861) (3,206)
Effect of different tax rates for different TREEEE TR ENTE
jurisdictions 1,371 3,060
Adjustments in respect of current tax of LB HARI B ER R 18
previous periods FTYEH R FA & (31) (219)
Profits and losses attributable to an associate — I HgE R R R (G R R A &R
g 87 =
Income not subject to tax BARBUBA (274) (1,217)
Expenses not deductible for tax AN AR 5,118 3,354
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BASRENE B IEREE (472) (1,230)
Tax losses not recognised RERH R IAEE 4,341 2,628
Others Hitp 989 (50)
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate RASBERFE-30.7%
of -30.7% (2022: 33.1%) (20224F : 33.1%)aTHH
BIAR < 6,026 6,218
12. DIVIDENDS 12. ®RE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FET
Proposed final dividend — Nil HARHARL S — T B A
(2022: HKO0.20 cents) per ordinary share T8l (20224 :0.20711) - 4,000

The board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the

year ended 31 December 2023.

EEETEZNEE2023F12A31BILEE

IR RS, ©
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13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF  13.

THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts is
based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$25,676,000 (2022: profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$12,558,000) and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 2,000,000,000 (2022: 2,000,000,000) in issue
during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings/(loss)
per share amounts presented.

FAREEAELEERER,(HE)

BREABFN,(BE)SEDENRARQ T
B A JE1hF A E518 25,676,000/ 7T (2022
F RNAFHEA AEAGEF AR F12,558,000
BIL) AR FANE BT T @R MEF S
2,000,000,0000% (20224 :2,000,000,000/%)
FTE -

ARHARITTENBRESHE ZVNSRELAR
(BB emAR REEME I ERLS
SEMEE E 20234 &2022F12 A31H IEFE
FEFMEREREF(EIE)SHEEHHA

o

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BERRZE
Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements machinery  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
BEY  RENERB BERME iR RE ERIR &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TAn TEn TER TET ThR Tan
31 December 2023 2023%12731H
At 1 January 2023: R2023%E1818 :
Cost R - 20,065 231,440 9,243 1,843 29,956 292,547
Accumulated depreciation 2iHTE - (9,874) (142,764) (7,621) (1,581) - (161,840)
Net carrying amount REFE - 10,191 88,676 1,622 262 29,956 130,707
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1 /18
accumulated depreciation MREGHE - 10,191 88,676 1,622 262 29,956 130,707
Additions RE 11,686 3,124 21,540 589 494 - 37,433
Disposal e - (3,296) (607) (7) - - (3,910)
Depreciation provided during FRFERB(MET)
the year (note 7) (1,189) (1,056) (14,391) (794) (263) - (17,693)
Transfers @ 28,902 - - - - (28,902) -
Exchange realignment B (799) (339) (3,002) (183) (3) (1,054) (5,380)
At31 December 2023, netof #2023 12A318
accumulated depreciation nR 2t 38,600 8,624 92,216 1,221 490 - 141,157
At 31 December 2023: R2023512A318 -
Cost KR 39,766 13,642 242,504 9,526 2,321 - 307,759
Accumulated depreciation 2:E (1,166) (5,027) (150,279) (8,299) (1,831) - (166,602)
Net carrying amount FEFE 38,600 8,615 92,225 1,227 490 - 141,157
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14. Y¥ - BERSBE(E
Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor Construction
improvements machinery and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
HENEEE R R 28 BRREE "E ERIR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin T THEr TiEn Titn
31 December 2022 2022%12R31H
At 1 January 2022: M2022%1A18 :
Cost A 17,353 227,308 8,960 2,476 14,249 270,346
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (9,646) (140,302) (7,745) (1,853) - (159,546)
Net carrying amount REEE 7,707 87,000 1,215 623 14,249 110,800
At 1 January 2022, net of "2022%F1R18
accumulated depreciation MR EsHE 7,707 87,006 1,215 623 14,249 110,800
Additions RE 4,149 22,952 1,476 - 20,227 48,804
Disposal e = (173) (13) = = (186)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—mHELR
(note 31) (M31) - 831 13 - - 844
Depreciation provided during ~ ERHFEREE(F3E7)
the year (note 7) (653) (13,597) (833) (350) - (15,433)
Exchange realignment R (1,012) (8,343) (236) (11 (4,520) (14,122)
At 31 December 2022, netof 120224128318
accumulated depreciation nREsHE 10,191 88,676 1,622 262 29,956 130,707
At 31 December 2022: 120226128318
Cost PR 20,065 231,440 9,243 1,843 29,956 292,547
Accumulated depreciation 23t (9,874) (142,764) (7,621) (1,581) - (161,840)
Net carrying amount REFE 10,191 88,676 1,622 262 29,956 130,707
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

15.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's plant and machinery
with a net book value of approximately HK$7,675,000 (2022: Nil)
were pledged to secure certain of the bank loans of the Group as
detailed in note 26.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings, and
plant and machinery used in its operations. Leases of plant and
machinery generally have lease terms of ten years, while buildings
generally have lease terms between two to thirty years. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

14. W% BERREBE)

15.

MR2023F 128318 AEERAFEL A
7,675,000/ 70 (20224 « B)ME THE M
BEEE  NESETASEZETRITER
(1B RMF26) ©

HE
REBEERABAA

AEERZRBREYARKE LESEBRTA
HESH  UHEZEMA - BB REROE
E—RESARTE MEFTHEE-RERR
TE=TF o —RWMEF  AKETARAEHE
DIONATEE R D EEEEE ©

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the AEBERNFEREEENRDMELRSSI
movements during the year are as follows: NG
Plant and
Buildings machinery Total
BF R K e Es #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAExT FHT
As at 1 January 2022 7®2022%1H1H 29,773 10,804 40,577
Additions NE 10,243 - 10,243
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BE — REIBT B A Al
(note 31) (PfF5E31) - 285 285
Depreciation charge (note 7) ERZ (KFE7) (10,034) (1,885) (11,919)
Exchange realignment [ 5, S 28 (2,226) (776) (3,002)
As at 31 December 2022 and 202212 A31H
1 January 2023 X%2023F1 818 27,756 8,428 36,184
Additions NE 7,940 - 7,940
Lease modification HEEET 736 = 736
Depreciation charge (note 7) WERZ (KizE7) (10,965) (1,867) (12,832)
Exchange realignment ERE L (752) (238) (990)
As at 31 December 2023 72023%F12H31H 24,715 6,323 31,038
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15. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

15. HE (&

REBERABRANE)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

BN
HERE

HEEENEREERFANZLSNT

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1ENERE 30,188 32,526
New leases FHEE 6,991 10,175
Additions as a result of acquisition of (R s B — R BT BB 8 =) i 386 0
a subsidiary (note 31) (F7E31) - 1,060
Accretion of interest recognised FREROFSIZ N
during the year 1,818 1,734
Lease modification ={CH) 736 =
Payments (BN (13,844) (12,625)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from a7 ABCOVID-19+8
lessors HeE=R - (179)
Exchange realignment EREE (824) (2,503)
Carrying amount at 31 December R®12A31 HREREE 25,065 30,188
Analysed into: bakiv=2
Current portion MENER S 10,401 14,979
Non-current portion IEmENEB D 14,664 15,209

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 38 to

the financial statements.

The Group applied the practical expedient to all eligible COVID-
19-related rent concessions granted by the lessors during the

year ended 31 December 2022.

Certain of the Group's lease liabilities were guaranteed by
unlimited corporate guarantees given by the Company as at 31

December 2023 and 2022.

THE B E BB D 0 B 75 R M 384

==

B

HZE2022F12A31BILLEFE - AEEY
HEHRABRTHREFE

& #9COVID-19

HAEEEEREARTRENA -

MN20234F K% 20229128310 - KEBEE
THEBBAAARME FTHERAR

FERATIER
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE(E
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERARBAE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are (c) REZTPEREEEEENSELOT ¢
as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 1,818 1,734
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRAREENERY 12,832 11,919
Expense relating to short-term leases MR BREEEENFAE
(included in administrative expenses) (FFATTEAR) 969 1,161
COVID-19-related rent concessions from R E T ABCOVID-19+8E
lessors HEeBEE - (179)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIEHERN RS 15,619 14,635
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(c) to the (d) FHEMNRESRLAREIRENTEHRRME
financial statements. 32(c) °
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16. GOODWILL 16. IHE
Total
et
HK$'000
31 December 2023 2023F12831H THExT
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of 7202341 A1 BRIAA (k% RTRE)
accumulated impairment 361
Impairment during the year FRRE (361)
Cost and net carrying amount at 72023612 A31 AR A KR EREFE
31 December 2023 =
At 31 December 2023: 7R2023F12A31H :
Cost AN 1,895
Accumulated impairment RFRE (1,895)
Net carrying amount BREFE =
31 December 2022 2022%F12H31H
At 1 January 2022: 20221818 :
Cost AN 1,532
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE -
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,532
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of 7202241 A1 B KA A (kR RETHRIE)
accumulated impairment 1,532
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31) U B8 — B B A ) (B EE31) 361
Impairment during the year FARE (1,534)
Exchange realignment [ 5, 2 2
At 31 December 2022 M2022%12A31H 361
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023: R2022F12831H K2023%F1 818 :
Cost AN 1,895
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (1,534)
Net carrying amount BREFE 361

HFEZEREROT ¢ 2023 FERSE
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
Truecount cash-generating unit (the “Truecount CGU") and to the
Print100 cash-generating unit (the “Print100 CGU"). The carrying
amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating units is

16. HE(#E)
EE AR E R H

BEBAMHESHHER S ETruecounti
SEABAM([TruecountBB & EAL B |) B E
FERSELBEM([BERERSEESEM])
PEEZMERSELEVNNEENERES

as follows: B
Truecount Print100
CGU CGU Total
Truecount EHEE
REEELEN REELEN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FAT
Carrying amount: BRE(E :
At 1 January 2022 720221818 11 o2 - B582
Exchange realignment bE 5 SR 2 - 2
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31)  UYEE—REIKI B A &)
(F47E31) - 361 361
Impairment provided during the year SRR ER G (1,534) - (1,534)
A 31 December 2022 and 120229128318 &
1 January 2023 2023F1 818 - 361 361
Impairment provided during the year S ARER G - (361) (361)

At 31 December 2023 2023512 H31H

Truecount CGU

The recoverable amount of the Truecount CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management, with reference to the expected useful lives of
the property, plant and equipment and the intangible assets. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 19.4% for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The long-term growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating unit beyond the
five-year period is 2.0% for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report

Truecount®z

TruecountlR & E A B A A Y[ € 5BIRFE R
BEFEANETE @ ZtEHNRARBES R
EEEBMENTFHYBREEETHNRESRE
TEA - WREYE  BEREKBEUAREREE
MTERRRIE A8 - B1Z 20229128318 1k
FEReREBBMRANIEFEERE19.4% °
HE2022F12A31BILFE - AREERF
BB SEABNMNASRENRRERE
7/%2.0% %
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Print100 CGU

The recoverable amount of the Print100 CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 156.7% (2022: 15.3%) and the long-term growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating unit beyond the
five-year period is 2.5% (2022: 2.0%).

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
cash-generating units for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022. The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue and gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted revenue and gross margins is the
average revenue and gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development
and discount rates are consistent with external information sources.

Based on management’'s estimates, an impairment loss of
HK$361,000 (2022: Nil) for the Print100 CGU was recognised to
write down carrying amount of goodwill to its recoverable amount as
at 31 December 2023.

In the prior year, based on management’s estimates, an impairment
loss of HK$1,534,000 for the Truecount CGU was recognised to
write down the carrying amount of goodwill to its recoverable
amount as at 31 December 2022.

16. HE(E)

BEEARERNHR(E)

ERERSELEUNAKRESEIZEHAE
BrEAREE  ZAEFARARBESHRE
BEMENAFHYFBEETHNRERENRE
Al e BEREBAMKANIIEREA15.7%
(20224 : 15.3%) ' MARKEERFHUERIR
CELEUNBESRENRERERRE25%
(20224 : 2.0%) °

#HZE2023F12 9318 %2022 12A31HIEF
B FREREET IR ER AL B
HEEREERR - UTHASEELTHE
RRE AR 2 ENE SRR AR ENS
FTEEY

BEWRAREFFE -FRAREEDENER
WAREMNEBENEERERBEFEA —
FEERTIHWARERNE « BT
BiEE AR AT IS EE -

BHRFE-FAMERBBRATREE X

DEETHERNTEZHRBRALERENEE
EOMBERBE 2 -

RIBFEEEBNEE  2M2023F12831HR
WA 23RS E L B AIER361,000/8 T KR E
B8 (20224 : B) - USRS 0 R E ERR
ZHAREEEE -

RBAFE  BREEEENMGET 212022
F12 A31 Bt Truecount3R & E L BN HER
1,534,000 TR REEE - UEEEMERE
ERRZE Ak E S5 -
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. HthEEEE

Software
licences
and
trademark
A R EAE
HK$'000
31 December 2023 2023F12H31H FHIT
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 7202341 A1 BHIBA « 0Bk REHEE
amortisation 6,055
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7) F AR SR (P EET7) (752)
Impairment during the year FRRE (4,615)
Exchange realignment b 5 (13)
At 31 December 2023 12023912 A31H 675
At 31 December 2023: #2023F12A31H :
Cost BN 6,417
Accumulated amortisation and impairment RETEE RRE (5,742)
Net carrying amount REFE 675
31 December 2022 2022%12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated 7202241 A1 BRIFA + 0Bk REHEE S
amortisation 977
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31) U B8 — B B A =) (B9 5E31) 5,476
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7) T E R (M EE7) (345)
Exchange realignment Rk (53)
At 31 December 2022 72022912 A31H 6,055
At 31 December 2022: 202291283118 :
Cost BN 6,434
Accumulated amortisation RET#EE (379)
Net carrying amount FREVFE 6,055

The other intangible assets represent software licences and
trademark acquired from independent third parties, which have finite
useful lives of 10 years and are amortised on a straight-line basis.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s management identified
the Print100 CGU were underperforming and estimated the
recoverable amount based on a value in use calculation using cash
flow projections with financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 15.7% (2022: 15.3%) and the long-term
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the CGU beyond
the five-year period is 2.5% (2022: 2.0%).

Based on management’'s estimate, an impairment loss of
HK$4,615,000 (2022: Nil) for the Print100 CGU was recognised to
write down the carrying amount of other intangible assets to its
recoverable amount as at 31 December 2023.
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REiE - RERAEAFHRI10F - WAELR

M2023F12A31H » AEBEEEERRER
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BEREA ERFHYSEERERESTERE
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18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 18. RAFEFABENEHERE

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Key management insurance contract FEEEABRBEN 5,940 5,803
Analysed for reporting purpose as: BREBNDTA

Non-current assets FERBEE 5,940 5,803

The key management insurance contract was mandatorily classified
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as its
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

Note:

As at 31 December 2023, the key management insurance contract represented life
insurance plans with investment elements relating to one member of key management
personnel of the Group. The total sum insured is US$2,000,000 (2022: US$2,000,000)
(approximately HK$15,500,000) with an annual minimum guaranteed return of 2%.

As at 31 December 2023, if the Group withdrew from the insurance contract, the account
value, net of surrender charges of US$129,000 (approximately HK$1,009,000) (2022:
US$129,000 (approximately HK$1,009,000)), would be refunded to the Group. The amount
of surrender charges decreased over time and was no longer required from the 19th year of
contract conclusion onwards.

19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

IEEEABRBANNANRSRELIFE
RINASRFE  WEFRHDBREAT
B ABENESREE -

UG

R2023F12A318  TEEFRBABRBRANIEATRBRE
B ERREARAEE—REIEERABMNRERSD - BIR
#8/52,000,0003 7T, (20224F : 2,000,000 7T.) (#915,500,000
BIT)  FEREERERHRA2% o

M2023F 128318 » MAKRBERERBREL  AIRFEE
(40K (R B 129,000 7T (491,009,000 7T ) (2022 4F -
129,000% 7T (%91,009,000/ 7T ) ) ) #§iRE F AL M - RIRE
Ao EEREIER - RENRIEEEI19FRRERHN -

19. R—EBEQITNRE

2023

20234

HK$'000

FET

Share of net assets EIhEEFE 2,810
Goodwill on acquisition Uk R EE R 5,960
Subtotal /INET 8,770
Impairment during the year FARE (3,089)
Total @Et 5,681
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19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the investment in an associate has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 19.4% and the long-term growth rate used
to extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating unit beyond the
five-year period is 2.5%.

Based on management’'s estimate, an impairment loss of
HK$3,089,000 (2022: Nil) was recognised for the investment in an
associate in the consolidated statement of profit or loss based on the
recoverable amount as at 31 December 2023.

Particulars of the Group's associate are as follows:

19. REEE QN RINIRE (&

REEARNRENARESBERRERE
HEZRERFH MEHEERARERER
AREREETEMETE - HARSREMA
MBI K B19.4%  URBREERFHIL
IR EELEUNREERENRBERER
2.5% °

RIFEIREERGE - BIEEZE2023F12 A31
HrA e &5 @ REABERARREEA
A H) 1% B FE R R (B /5 183,089,000/ 7T (2022
FF)e

REBMBERRFBWT

Percentage of

Bl
Particulars Place of
of issued registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal
shares held and business interest power sharing activities
Firfs
BEfT
Name Eq RAHE  SRREEN e REE GilYipaga TEEH
Primway S.AR.L Primway S.A.R.L Provision of
customer
EUR2,080 France 25 25 25 services
2,0808r  EE] RUE PR
20. INVENTORIES 20. &
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHxT
Raw materials B 24,871 27,976
Work in progress ERM 23,386 15,214
Finished goods RURK T 21,906 25,568
Total =t 70,163 68,758
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

1. ESRUHTE

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Trade receivables B 5 EIE 45,566 43,777
Impairment BE (654) (854)
Net carrying amount RE&EE 44,912 42,923

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally within 30 to 90 days from
the date of monthly statements. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables

are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows:

AEETEUNEESAEERFPIILE S K
Ko MEHEP - RBERANK - FEH K
RAFEEDHEA30E0RA - FEREFE
R EERE ANEHRARREEETHE
B ARBETAREE SR FIRERITEE
ERmREMEEILRER - B RKHA

Tt .

RBRERAR  REBXZAHNE S EKRE
(FNERBRBE) BRI

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Within 1 month —@EAR 24,438 22,278
1 to 2 months —Z=/EA 12,751 13,485
2 to 3 months mZE=1EA 3,911 2,809
Over 3 months BiE=1{EA 3,812 4,351
Total A=t 44,912 42,923
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

21.

B RUCRIE(E)

B RIGRERENERBEZRNT

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FHT

At beginning of year =) 854 203
Impairment/(reversal of impairment), SE, CRUERD ) F5E

net (note 7) (PfEE7) (176) 674

Amount written off as uncollectible Ji 85 A AT U (3] Y FRO0E (24) (23)

At end of year FR 654 854

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

MNEHE B RRABEEEETREDN - A
SAEFEHEEEE - BEEENAFHREMER
BBz R) £8P RS ey S B &E
H o ZEtERBRIAXNEER EERER
W& BRASNARBESE - Bk R
ARG BE IR TR S IE R AT SEE R -

TR AEERAREEETENE H R
KRB EERBER

72023%12831H

Past due
]

Current 1to30days 31to60days 61to90days 91to365days Over 1year Total

Il 1230H 312604 61£90A 91£365H BA1E gt

Expected credit loss rate  EHEEEER 0.02% 0.09% 1.32% 8.58% 18.64% 100% 1.44%

Gross carrying amount  EREAA(E(THTT)

(HK$'000) 37,499 4,704 1,586 688 649 440 45,566
Expected creditlosses ~ BHEEHE(TETL)

(HK$'000) 9 4 21 59 121 440 654

As at 31 December 2022

72022%12H31H

Past due

Current  1to30days 31t060days 61to90days 91to365days  Over 1 year Total

L 1E30H 312608 61290H 91%£365H BiR1F &t

Expected credit loss rate  FEIEEEHER 0.05% 0.09% 0.85% 4.58% 25.50% 100% 1.95%

Gross carrying amount  BEEAE(FHETT)

(HK$'000) 27,461 10,221 3,397 1,201 1,008 489 43,777
Expected creditlosses ~ BEEEFE(THAT)

(HK$'000) 15 9 29 55 257 489 854
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. SRR - RERHEMEKIE

2023 2022

20235 20224

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5E FET FHT

Prepayments SEERE S 5,643 12,064

Deposits and other receivables B& R H M EWGKIE 14,905 14,474

Total FEE 20,548 26,538

Less: Non-current portion B IERBE S (a) (2,671) (9,556)

Current portion mENELS 17,877 16,982
Note: B EE

(a)  The amounts mainly represent prepayments for the acquisition of property, plant and

equipment and the non-current portion of rental deposits.

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables. The Group considers the historical loss rate
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data in calculating
the expected credit loss rate. The Group has classified financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables in
stage 1 and continuously monitors their credit risk. The financial
assets included in the above balances related to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss allowance was assessed
to be minimal.

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

@) EHSBXERUEDE BERRENEMREAR
HEZRSNIEREIS -

REBERBA —MARBRTABAZE - BZE& K
EMERSENCREEELTEREEBER
e AEBHERREEERXREZREBES
BRIIZAEEZHCESIRED AR - A%
EE B ATENRIE « B REMEKRZKIEN
TREESNDAF R WHEEREEFER
B o AT A LA SR H© B0 & 2 A0 AE B FE W3R B
WM EE NS R E £ 58 o M 2023F &
202212 A31H  BEBEHTIEATEK -

23. RERALEEYREEMEFR

2023 2022

20234 20224

Note HK$000 HK$'000

B 5 FE T FHT

Cash and bank balances e RIRITHER 34,158 52,291

Time deposits TEHTF R 14,575 24,172

Subtotal /INet 48,733 76,463
Less: Pledged time deposits: B BT AT

Pledged for bank loans and bank B AIRITE R RIRTT
overdraft facilities B RS MK I 38 (14,575) (14,138)
Cash and cash equivalents B MBEEEY 34,158 62,325

HFEZEREROT ¢ 2023 FERSE
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23.

24.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“"RMB") amounted to
HK$2,655,000 (2022: HK$2,738,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Chinese
Mainland’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between fourteen days and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalent approximate
to their fair values.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

23. BekASLEEBYRECEKFERE)

RBMEIR - FEEUAARE (AR DHE
IR M IRTT45 8% 52,655,000/8 7T (20224 -
2,738,000 7T) - ARBTBSERA B AR
B R R IE T B R INE E B KB A K
HIE - EERMNEEERTE  AEBABEBR
HEETTIMNEEBHMRITEBARE L RAHEME
e o

RITESWERE B RITERR R ZEHF =X
RERFS - RHEHERCHERNF+HOAE
=EAR - BFREENERESFHRIRARE
HEHRERERDMAE - RITHERTFHRNMEE
Rif B HA IRGRARR R RTT - RE KBS
SEYHREEREQFERS

4. B5RNFIR

RIFERR - REZRZAHNE S EMNRERE
BT ¢

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#ERT T

Within 1 month —@AB A 16,593 16,391
1 to 2 months —Z=M1EA 12,272 15,658
2 to 3 months Mz =1E A 10,389 8,096
Over 3 months BmE=1{EA 18,069 13,427
Total “Et 57,323 53,572

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on 30 to 150-day terms (2022: 30 to 150-day terms).
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

25. Hit B RRIBEREFE H

2023 2022

20234 20224

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

b= F#ExT FHET

Other payables E IR (a) 21,751 10,873

Accruals fE:tE A 20,786 20,235

Contract liabilities EHBE (b) 11,616 9,564

Deferred government grant R REER AT 7 B (c) 431 578

Total 45 54,584 41,250

Less: Non-current portion B IERBEH S (d) (3,417) (442)

Current portion TRENER D 51,167 40,808

Notes: G

(a)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have generally no credit terms. (a) EfbREMZIEREE - —BWEmSEE o

(b)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

(b)

31 December

BREEFENT

31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022

2023%F12831H 20225 12A31H 202251 A1R

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FAT FHT

Short-term advances received from customers & & 5 UE A 5 #8450 11,616 9,564 10,975

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver printing products to
customers. The increase in contract liabilities in 2023 was mainly due to the increase
in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the sale of printing
products at the end of the year. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly

due to the decrease in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the

sales of printing products at the end of the year.

(c) The amount represents a government grant received from the Provincial Finance
Bureau, Huizhou Province. This government grant is asset-related and is amortised

over the useful lives of the related assets, which is ten years since May 2018.

(d) These amounts represent the non-current portion of a government grant and a

consideration payable of an associate.

(c)

(d)

AHNBERFERAE S R ENRIE R AU Z 5
Mo ANBER2023FEFAMENDEEERFERERS
W ER 75 B8 84 5 BNl 22 m O A2 BB SR B BTG AN © 2022F &
NEERDTIEBHRERE T F U B 8 & R E
e BRI PR -

BRASRIR A BN A M BB AT RHE) - ZEBUN
W EERBERNEMEERFERAFH(ENE201845
A0 M) 28 -

ZECHEERAMNIERD B D KBt E QR EAN
REE -
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. ;TEBITER
2023 2022
20235 20225
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate per rate per
annum Maturity HK$'000 annum Maturity HK$'000
ERER= 3HA TAT ERERE %A TAR
Current ks
Bank overdrafts - secured BEL - FEREOIV) 74%  Ondemand 4,091 = = =
(note (b)iv) BER
Bank loans - unsecured (note (a))  H{TER—EHIE(Hii(a)) 39%  Ondemand 1,816 34% On demand 5,347
BER REX
Bank loans - secured (note (b))~ SFTEF - BEA(HEbI() 25%  Ondemand 2,217 2.5% On demand 2,930
Bank loans - secured (note (b)(i))  SB{TEFR —EHB(H b)) 1213%  Ondemand 6,000 4.8% On demand 8,000
Bank loans - secured note ()i}~ R{TEF—BEM(HzE(b) i) 5.8% 2024 1,680 5.8% 2023 1588
20245 2023
Bank loans - secured (note (bl(iv))  SITET - BEM(HEb)(v) 36:39%  Ondemand 5,980 c 3 =
Total-current BN 21,784 17,865
Non-current FENE
Bank loan - secured (note (b)) FITER - BERRE i) 5.8% 2025 1331 5.8% 2025 3,017
20255 20255
Total #:t 23,115 20,882
2023 2022
20234 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Analysed into: bakiv=2
Bank loans and overdrafts repayable: BEERITERRES ¢
Within one year or on demand —FARAFIRERK 21,784 17,865
In the second year £ ks 1,331 1,686
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EZERF(BEER
M) - 1,331
Total #Er 23,115 20,882
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26.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The bank loans are guaranteed by unlimited corporate guarantees given by the
Company as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(i)

(ii)

The key management insurance contract with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$5,940,000 (2022: HK$5,803,000) was pledged to secure the
bank loans granted to the Group.

The bank loans are secured by the pledge of certain of the Group's time deposits
amounting to HK$4,154,000 (2022: HK$4,021,000) and the corporate guarantee

of the Company.

(iii)  The bank loans and bank overdrafts are secured by the pledge of certain of the
Group's time deposits amounting to HK$10,421,000 (2022: HK$10,117,000).

(iv) The bank loans are secured by plant and machinery with a net book value of
approximately HK$7,675,000 (2022: Nil) at the end of the reporting period as

detailed in note 14 to the financial statements.

(c) Except for certain bank loan which is denominated in United States dollars, all
borrowings were in Hong Kong dollars as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based
on the maturity terms of the bank loans and bank overdrafts, the
amounts repayable in respect of the Group's interest-bearing bank

borrowings were analysed as follows:

sTEIRITHER(E)

i -

(a) RITEFRIIEARREIR2023F £2022F12A31 B4 F
B A R EARFTHELR -

(b) () BREI{E%95,940,0005% 7T (2022 4 : 5,803,000

TOMEEEBABRBRENDER  UEBSRT

AREEZFITER ©

(i) ZROTEXRDBAEEMERZEFTEHTER
4,154,000/ 7T (20224 © 4,021,000 7T ) A KA
RAREZ D RIERFTEIR o

(i) ZBRITERRBITEXDAFEEERZETE

HA7F 310,421,000 7T (20224 : 10,117,000
TC)FTHELR o

(iv) WEOIRSREMI FE14FTEI - RIREHIR - ZIBIT
AR EEEA7,675,000/8 70 (20224 : B)H)
RS R AR FTIRIR o

(c) METFLUAETHEMRITERIN - R2023F %2022F
12A31 BB BRI ABTTAHE ©

MR AR ERERGERNZELRBRTE
m&%ﬁﬁﬁi‘iﬁ’hu Rk - AERERET BRTT
AR Z EEEFIADMIT

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023%F12H31H 20229128318
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Analysed into: bakiiv=2
Bank loans and bank overdrafts repayable: EEERITERNRIT
i
Within one year —FR 16,881 13,826
In the second year F_F 4,727 4,202
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE=FFERF

(BEERMEF) 1,507 2,854
Total st 23,115 20,882
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27. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

27. ELEFIE

BELERRABEREEZLSHNT

EER AR E

Accelerated
Right-of- tax

use assets depreciation Total
FERAEEE MEBIBRE #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FHET
At 31 December 2021 720219128318 - 1,039 1,039
Effect of adoption of amendments  £R4QE & 525 125%
to HKAS 12 (ERTAR) 2 & 6,216 - 6,216
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 7202241 A18 (&LE7)) 6,216 1,039 7,255
Acquisition of a subsidiary I i — B A A - 319 319
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to FARNBEEEBRERN%
the consolidated statement of (GFAZAERER)NELERIE
profit or loss during the (MFs£E11)
year (note 11) (731) 1,801 1,070
Exchange realignment [ 5 % (489) (59) (548)
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F12A31B &
1 January 2023 2023%F1H18 4,996 3,100 8,096
Deferred tax charged to the FREGEERRINRE
consolidated statement of EEFR A (MIEET1)
profit or loss during the year
(note 11) 711 364 1,075
Exchange realignment [EE 5 (177) (73) (250)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12831H 5,530 3,391 8,921
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27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

27. ELERIE(E)

Deferred tax assets EERIBEEE
Losses
available for
offsetting
against future Lease
taxable profits liabilities Others Total
EEDE:
RRIERRER
MER HEEE Hith st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEL FiEr TEL
At 31 December 2021 R2021%128318 - 407 - 407
Effect of adoption of amendments to RNEEETERE125%
HKAS 12 (BaIA) 252 - 6,216 - 6,216
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 12022%1 18 (K E7) = 6,623 = 6,623
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the EREAN/(HEB)EEBRRD
consolidated statement of profit or loss ~ JEIERIIE(FiEE11)
during the year (note 11) 1,482 (736) 102 848
Exchange realignment [& 3 A% - (489) - (489)
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F128318 %
1 January 2023 202318108 1,482 5,398 102 6,982
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated R NG A BRRNETHIE
statement of profit or loss during the (Bx11)
year (note 11) 87 11 2 800
Exchange realignment I AR - (177) - (177)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 1,569 5,932 104 7,605
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities REIMS ETEERBEEERABRDRY
have been offset in the statement of financial position. The following BRR KPS - AEEEMBRSEAENE
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial ERRTBAEBRD AT

reporting purposes:

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE AR R ERH
consolidated statement of financial position RIETIBEE TR 506 504
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RIF BT B RRIEDRR
consolidated statement of financial position FEEFIEA EFRE (1,822) (1,618)
Net deferred tax liabilities EER S AEFRE (1,316) (1,114)
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27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has estimated unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$71,966,000 (2022: HK$54,404,000). Unrecognised tax losses
arising in Hong Kong and certain foreign operations of approximately
HK$18,461,000 (2022: HK$13,645,000) are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose.

The Group also has estimated tax losses arising from certain
foreign operations other than Hong Kong in an aggregate amount of
HK$53,505,000 (2022: HK$40,759,000) that will expire in five years
to twenty years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as, in the opinion of the directors, they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland (2022: Nil). In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with the investments in
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$41,700,000 at
31 December 2023 (2022: HK$29,145,000).

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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NEE D fhET AR IEE184971,966,0007%8
TL(20224F :54,404,000/7C) - REBRET
B INETSE R R TH A5 184918,461,000
77T (20224 13,645,000 7T ) A] £ R HA 5 1A
BEHEEZSEBRN DG Z A RERFEF -

AEBREHEFELEBRBUINGE T EIN
¥ 2 RMIEEEA £/553,505,00078 7T (2022
F :40,759,000/87T) * ZEMEFEEER A
FE_+FREE  DARNBEELEZSER
KR AL AR RIERFLUEF ©

EERA AREAMEBEBRDELABEREES
BE-BRERNNE AR - A RRERD S
AR EIR S TRB B A A REIE A - M
ERZEBRERECHREE °

7K2023F 12318 » #EERAESF B AL
EEMBIRAOAEENBARNKENSR
#h 2 JE BN TB L #E R UR E B T8 (2022 4F -
) EEHERE  EAIRAER  ZEHBAR
PRABEDIRZEFRBH ° 1R2023F12 A 31
H @ WARERECEHREE BT E RS
AREENERZEZRS £441,700,0007% 7T
(20224 : 29,145,000 7T ) °

ARRRERFRMRSEEASHTE -
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. IR
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
28T
RMHEE &N
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: JETE
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 720221818  2022%F
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 128318 * 2023%F1A1H
202312 H31H 5,000,000,000 50,000

Number of
shares in issue Share capital
21T
R EE &N
HK$'000
FET
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR :
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 1 #20229F1 818 » 2022%F
January 2023 and 31 December 2023 128318 + 2023F181H
N2023F12A31H 2,000,000,000 20,000

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in note 29 to the financial

statements.

RB AR AE
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme"”) was approved and adopted
by the Company on 21 February 2020. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group. Unless
terminated by the Company by resolution in general meeting, the
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up
options to subscribe for the shares of the Company (“Shares”) under
the Scheme: (a) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-
time or part-time and including any executive Director), consultants
or advisers of, or, to the Company, any of the subsidiaries or any
entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which the Company holds an
equity interest (collectively, the Company, any of the subsidiaries or
the Invested Entity are referred to as the “Relevant Parties”); (b)
any non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of, any supplier of goods or services to, any customer
of and any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to, the Relevant Parties; and (c) any
Shareholders or any shareholder of any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by the Relevant
Parties. For the purposes of the Scheme, the options may be granted
to any company wholly-owned by one or more persons belonging to
any of the above classes of participants.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. No options may be granted under any schemes
of the Company or the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will
result in the maximum number being exceeded. The total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue (i.e.
200,000,000 as at the date of this annual report). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme or any other schemes will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares then in issue. Any further grant of the Options in
excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting. Each grant of option under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial Shareholder, or to any of their associates,
is subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
Directors. In addition, any grant of option under the Scheme to a
substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue
at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company's shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, is subject to Shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be
held, any performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised
upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted
under the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance
with the Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five business days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option (which must be a business
day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day
(as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not have
a past practice of cash settlement for these share options. The
Group accounts for the Scheme as an equity-settled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

9. BBRHERTEI(4E)

S2EET BRHERIES HRFT280 ARKE
Mot - ERMABEER D BIRER AT 2EBE
HEE AR ARBRENRESRRE  ERLAE
HERIL B R R 1T R R EK
R R B A R A ©

RAR L ET 813 H A (T B AR HE AR BRI 1D WO AR 8
BEHESS2RMBEET (UREZTEIE
PEMAZE)  HZEERTEERTIEEN
HEE (RN EERLERERBR(KER
EEA(EERLEWRAD)ATAME %A E5H
RETFEMERIIROFHRNE  ()RHR
REBREAR(MWERLEB (FERLTH
Q) EB RSB RERARWAE - Kl
BROEE - ZERBHEBRESORAEINR
81.00%7T °

TERESHEEBRRTR - AREBAETEMZ
SHEEEETRESEENED - KEE K ZET
SRR AREEETE -

BRETETHAABRKREINERAS
REREVIER o

VAN BT ek at &R T S 1 R TT (R B BB A

2023 2022
2023% 2022%
Weighted Weighted

average Number of average Number of

exercise price options exercise price options

METLATHEE BREHE  mETHITEE BRERER

HKS$ per share ‘000 HKS per share 000

SRBT T BRET T

At 1 January R1A1E 0.057 2,000 0.057 2,000
Granted during the year RERR L - - - -
At 31 December R12A31H 0.057 2,000 0.057 2,000

No share options were exercised during the years of 2023 and 2022.

2023%F % 2022F AL EAERR AT T(E -
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. BRERTEI(E)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options R ERAREBRITENBREITEE RITER
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: mr
2023 2023
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BIREEE TfEE* TR
‘000 HK$ per share
T4 BRBT
1,000 0.057 31-12-21 to 14-9-25
31-12-21%14-9-25
1,000 0.057 31-12-23 to 14-9-25
31-12-23%14-9-25
2,000
2022 2022%F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
FEAREEE IEE* G
‘000 HK$ per share
T BB T
1,000 0.057 31-12-21 to 14-9-25
31-12-21%14-9-25
1,000 0.057 31-12-23 to 14-9-25
31-12-23%14-9-25
2,000
*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights & filh E IR A IR S AT AR B 1T s AN A R AR AR 3R H b UL &
or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share capital. ) - RIS TTEEA THE -
The fair value of the share options granted during the year of 2020 20204 & &% i B iR #E W A T8 /50,0008
was HK$50,000 (HK$0.025 each) of which the Group recognised a TT(E10.02587T) + ERAREEREE2023
share option expense of HK$8,000 (2022: HK$7,000) during the year F12 8318 IEFERERERER8,000/%5 T
ended 31 December 2023. (20224 : 7,000/ L) °
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the R20200F EERE MR AL EBBREN AT
year of 2020 was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial BI5R B B A A IR T EAR A - I0AE
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which ZERZHERENGRRGHREE - TR
the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the Bl 5z A8 = P {sE AR A 88 A (B -
model used:
2020
20204
Spot price (HK$) REE(ET) 0.055
Exercise price (HK$) TEEET) 0.057
Dividend yield (%) A% S B3R (%) =
Expected volatility (%) T8 HAR 18 (%) 56.65
Risk-free interest rate (%) AR 2 (%) 0.18
Exercise multiple TEEE 2.8
Expected life of options (years) B ETERTFHR(F) 5
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29.

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 2,000,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 2,000,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$20,000
(before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 2,000,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 55 of the financial statements.

(a) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate of the paid-
up share capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the
Group attributable to the Controlling Shareholders prior to the
Reorganisation.

The balance of the merger reserve at 31 December 2023
and 2022 mainly represented the deemed distribution to the
Controlling Shareholders by issuance of the Company’s shares
pursuant to the Reorganisation.

(b

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all relevant
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

(c) Share premium
The share premium represents the difference between the par

value of the shares issued and the consideration paid for the
Reorganisation.

29.

30.

BBIRAERT &I ()

HEATESLEHREREMREOR S
P -

RIERR - NAFRIFEZAT 352,000,000
MARITHEEBRE - BEAQFERE ARG
o BEITESRITENERESEBIE
2,000,000 % &8 9P A A &) & 38 i K 2 420,000
B ITRIREINIR AR (FNBR BT TRISR A ) -

RSHHHRRIERSR  RNABBEZTE
#752,000,00000 RIT{E AR - (h3% B HAR
ARIBEITRHBA0.1% °

&

AEERAFREEBEFENRERALSS

BRMEMRELENGRARAEBRET

(a) AR

Aot RIENEEATER R R EGEREA
RAEBENMME AR 2 BUEIRALEEE -

M20234F R 202212 A3 BHI& B
HEHRTBERBEAEBRITARRKRN
BAERERRER DR

(b) SNERBIREE

SNEE K B i R B IR I B INE RS B I R
MELWAAERBELEE -

(c) Bt&E

Pt B EEN S EHTROMEE
HENREZRENER -
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION 31. EXA6t
On 6 May 2022, the Group acquired a 100% interest in Print100
Limited from an independent third party. Print100 Limited is engaged
in business of printing. The acquisition was made to expand and
diversify the Group's business scope. The purchase consideration
for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with HK$5,000,000 paid
during the year.

R2022F 5860  NEEBA—ZBYE=H
WEEE R S AR ATNI100%KE - HHE2H
RARNERIE - WESEEERERERZ
EASEMNEG®HE  WBEENRERE
5,000,000 TR FERE LRSS (T -

RYEFEBRE - R 2FR QBN A BRI EER

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Print100

136

Limited as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BEANANFEELT :
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
g 12
RN AFE
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment L E N 844
Right-of-use assets EREEE 285
Other intangible assets HEihEFEE 5,476
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss EATEFAEBENSMERE ol
Trade receivables B 5 IE 230
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTFRIE - H2e K H e RIE 5,500
Cash and cash equivalents RERFSEEY 75
Trade payables B SRR {1 78))
Other payables and accruals HEt RN RIEREEA (1,238)
Bank overdrafts RITEX (965)
Lease liabilities HEAE (1,060)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITER (3,101)
Deferred tax liabilities BEFHEAE (319)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEAFEIENA R FEERE 4,639
Goodwill on acquisition g2 361
Satisfied by Cash RS 5,000
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a
subsidiary is as follows:

31. EBEHH(E)

FARKE—HRBARNRESRED T
T

HK$'000

FHET

Cash consideration BERE (5,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrikiEiR € RN EEY 75
Bank overdrafts acquired FruR B8 ERTTHE X (965)
(5,890)

Included in the goodwill of HK$361,000 recognised above is an
assembled workforce which is not recognised separately. It is
not separable and does not meet the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset under HKAS 38 Intangible Assets. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

Since the acquisition, Print100 Limited contributed HK$8,510,000 to
the Group's revenue and a loss of HK$2,330,000 to the consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the prior
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group for the
prior year would had been HK$411,147,000 and HK$10,958,000,
respectively.

ERPERET AR EN361,0008THBANE
REG - HUEBEBHR - A BEEBR
R RN EBAGTEUFBRELEER
TERVEERIGE - BHGECHEINGE
A BRI SRR ©

W%  BREBRABINREE2022F12
A3BLEEHFRASHNALAEERS K
8,510,000/ 7t K& 182,330,000/ 7T ©

AR EFET  MAKE EFAR

= M RE R o B A 411,147,000 T &
10,958,000/ 7T °
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 32.

FERERERMEE

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) MEETHEENEREE
Interest-

bearing bank Lease

borrowings liabilities

sTERITHER HEARE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

At 1 January 2022 R2022F1HA1H 13,622 32,526

Changes from financing cash flows MERSRELEH 4,159 (10,891)

New leases HHE - 10,175

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31) U — M B A Al (MI5E31) 3,101 1,060

COVID-19-related rent concessions from R & HAABCOVID-1948R3

lessors HeE=R - (179)

Foreign exchange movement PEE 5, 5 &) - (2,503)

Interest expense B> = 1,734
Interest paid classified as SERBMERESREN

financing cash flows BEFE < (1,734)
At 31 December 2022 and MR2022F12A31H K

1 January 2023 20231 H1H 20,882 30,188

Changes from financing cash flows BMEBRSREE (1,858) (12,026)

Bank overdrafts |ITEZ 4,091 =

New leases g - 6,991

Lease modification HEEBET - 736

Foreign exchange movement FE 5 &) - (824)

Interest expense MBRZ - 1,818
Interest paid classified as PEARERSREN

financing cash flows BERFLE = (1,818)

At 31 December 2023 1R2023F12831H 23,115 25,065

(b) Major non-cash transactions

Lease commencement recognition of HK$7,940,000 (2022:
HK$10,243,000) was included in right-of-use assets and lease

liabilities.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of
cash flows is as follows:

32. GERERBRME(E

(c) HEMNRSRLBE

FARESRERNEERSIRLARMT -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within operating activities AL EEE) 969 1,161
Within financing activities SAREEE 13,844 12,625
Total st 14,813 13,786
33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 33. EEIKM
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank loans are ARBAEERITERMEFRNRNEEEEF
included in note 26 to the financial statements. IS E A B TS R FT5E26 ©
34. COMMITMENTS 34, &iE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
contractual commitments:

MR|EMR - AEBEBUTELRE

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Building BEY - 14,360
Plant and machinery B 22 1,947 343
Total “a5 1,947 14,703
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BB ARS
(a) The Group had the following transactions with related parties (a) REERFRNEUATHEEBR RS :

during the year:

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5T FHET FAT
Associate: iR AN
Sales of products HEER (i) 1,402 -
Commission expense AERX (ii) 2,676 -
Notes: BT
(i) The sales to the associate were made according to the published prices and () MBEQFANEEDNREAASEFIEZFREM
conditions offered to the major customers of the Group, except that a longer B A ER R ETT - E—RETFHREREAR
credit period of up to six months is normally granted. KB REE BRI -
(i) The commission expense arose from the sale of products of a subsidiary (i) FAeRIELGHERRRTHONEARESRS
arranged by the associate, which in return received a commission based on £ EALDR  RRHENI%EE5%WRASE -
3% to 5% of the transaction value.
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group (b) XEBZTEETEAESMNS
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive's BEENTETHAEMESNE—SFHEH
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial statements. REA TG IRFTHT3E9
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. ZEFESTHNEMIE
Financial
asset at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BRAFETA b7g £i-ID %N
ERNEmEE TEMNESREE Hs
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK’000
FHET FHET F#ET
2023 2023%F
Financial assets SREE
Trade receivables B S EIE - 44,912 44,912
Financial assets included in ATATEMFIE - ZERk
prepayments, deposits and EibERGREN SR EE
other receivables - 14,905 14,905
Financial asset at fair value through 2 A F(EE AEzH
profit or loss SREE 5,940 = 5,940
Pledged deposits BRI EFR - 14,575 14,575
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESEEY - 34,158 34,158
Total “Et 5,940 108,550 114,490
Financial
asset at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAFERA RS AR
BENEREE FENSREE wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’'000
FHET FHET FHT
2022 2022%F
Financial assets SRIEE
Trade receivables B S IE - 42,923 42,923
Financial assets included in AENRIE BER
prepayments, deposits and HtEWan e g E
other receivables - 14,474 14,474
Financial asset at fair value through A E AEZRE
profit or loss SREE 5,803 - 5,803
Pledged deposits BEBFR - 14,138 14,138
Cash and cash equivalents B MBEEEY - 62,325 62,325
Total #Et 5,803 133,860 139,663
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued) 36. REREINEMIA(E)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

BBHEAATTENEREE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHT
Financial liabilities SEas

Trade payables B S EMNRE 57,323 53,572

Financial liabilities included in other payables and =+ A E 4th fE {3118 &% fg =1 &
accruals HEmaE 6,358 8,045
Interest-bearing bank borrowings G EERITIER 23,115 20,882
Lease liabilities HEAE 25,065 30,188
Total RET 111,861 112,687

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 37. €@ ITANATERLATFERER

INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amount and fair value of the Group’s financial AEBSRTAMNEEERAFE(RAMBER
instrument, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably ATFEEEREERINNAT -

approximate to fair values, are as follows:

As at 31 December 2023 7R2023F12H31H
Carrying
amount Fair value
BREE AFE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FH&T T
Financial asset SMEE
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss ZAFEIABRNERHEE 5,940 5,940
As at 31 December 2022 72022%12531H
Carrying
amount Fair value
BRE{E ~FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHT
Financial asset SMEE
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss IZAFE ABEHNEBEAE 5,803 5,803
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, trade payables, and financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee.
At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of non-current deposits and other payables, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, and were assessed to approximate to their carrying
amounts. The Group’'s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was assessed to
be insignificant.

The fair value of a key management insurance contract classified
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is based on
the account value less surrender charge, quoted by the vendor. The
directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from the
valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related change in fair value, which is
recorded in profit or loss, is reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

37. ERMITANAFERLFEBRE

BEEENG R MBRLZEY CEMT
KORBHMD - BHERMKRIE - FFATRNK
B BeRhEMERRENEREE BHIE
NREARGT ARMENFELEFERNS
BABEZATEREREERS  DEEHR
FZETARIHRABIEME °

AEENMBEERENVRIMIAEEES
BMIAZATEFENRERIZR - BBER
HERAPBRERECZESHE - REWMS

EfEMANEIEGAE - HEAMBRES
BNt - WHEEREZ S ESFMARP R
FEFBRENEEBERERETR

CRMEERBENATAEKRBME S (583850
BREERINEEMNRZ S THAIRMZTE
WERAR - T AEARBEBARMEGT AT
#:

ERBEAREMEMATE  HEEERTE
BITERORAFEDNREREREIUER - 28
R R TIEEN ARSI XTE
FEHARESREANE W HAREKEE
A o NEERR20234F K 2022F12 A31HH
FHEBRITERTBARRETESTERK

DRRBRATEFABSEZEREENTEE
BEABRBANZAFEDERES BEME
RER(AHEARE)TE - EFHE - K
MERMSH 2 G52 FEGIAGSHBR
AR)EAFEZBBEHGIABR)HRE
B UARBRERRzKRRAEEE -
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 37. €I ENAFERAFERBR(E)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

TR#F BT AEN20234 %2022412
A3BZEARTABEGAEERTEEHEE

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022: DIBE -
Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair
technique unobservable input Value value to the input
A EEE AR
REHNT BATAUEBRREAE HE ZHRE
Key management insurance N/A  Account values HK$6,949,000 5% (2022: 5%)
contract classified as a TEHR KRFEE 6,949,000/ 7T increase (decrease)
financial asset at fair value (2022: in account values
through profit or loss HK$6,812,000) would result in
DERBAFEFABR ISR (20224 : increase (decrease)

BENTEEEABRBREL
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6,812,000/ 7T)

Surrender charge HK$1,009,000
BRIREHA 1,009,000/ 7T
(2022:

HK$1,009,000)

(20224 :

1,009,000/ 7T )

in fair value by
HK$347,000
(2022: HK$341,000)
IREEEEFACTBE)
5% (20224 : 5%)
EH N TE
("NF%)347,000/ 7T
(20224 : 341,000
v

5% (2022: 5%)
increase (decrease)
in surrender charge
would result in
increase (decrease)
in fair value by
HK$50,000
(2022: HK$50,000)

RREBALEACTE)
5% (20224 : 5%)
HEH N TE LA
("FF%)50,00075 7T
(20224 : 50,000
BIT)
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 37. 2R TAMAFERAFERER(E)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy DNEEER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TREBUAEEERTAZAFEFEER :
of the Group's financial instruments:

Asset measured at fair value: BAFEFEZEE -

As at 31 December 2023

720235128318

Fair value measurement using
SFEATERER
Quoted
prices in  Significant  Significant
active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

AERTIS BAAHE EATHEE

ZRE WAE PN
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

(ZE14R) (%24%) (%£34%) Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT THET FHET FHET
Financial asset at fair value BAFEFABRY

through profit or loss SRVEE - - 5,940 5,940

As at 31 December 2022

120225128 31H

Fair value measurement using

FEATERER
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

RERMS  EXRIER SATAER

Z$RIE B/ AE BAE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(FB14R) (B24%) (E38) B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FHET FHET

Financial asset at fair value BRAFERTABZEDN

through profit or loss SRMEE - - 5,803 5,803
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The movement in fair value measurement within Level 3 during the
year are as follows:

37.

ERMITANQNFERAFEERGE)

DNPEERGE)

FR - FBIRANDFEFTEZBHNT :

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 January ®R1A1H 5,803 5,599
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31) W eg—mH B AR (FEE31) - 91
Disposals & - (85)
Total gains recognised in profit or loss RIBSERRI U S A58 137 198
At 31 December M®12A31H 5,940 5,803

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liguidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Hong Kong
dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit/(loss) before tax (arising from Renminbi denominated
financial instruments) and the Group’s equity.
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38.

20234 % 2022%12A318 » REBE W F|AE
MRAFEFENSRHEE -

FR - eREENEHAGES I REF2HHR
FEFEZRALEEY - E3RMEBALE
(20224 : &) -

BRI EIE B EREE

AEEIENERTABERERREEE
Y BSREWHR - e REMEBYRGUR - &
SRNFIR - B ENRIAREFER 58
RITERNEERE -

EfEASESBRTIANEEZRARAINER
B FIRER  EERBREADESCRR - =
EeRMALHTEABEESERROEE  #
ey o

S B

AEEEBERZEERR - ZERARKEEE
BAIEREMEE B AT R FTETT 2 8
ERRE -

TRUANTRS RN H M 7T 2 F = E R
TEEERT - AEBESBRBATRR,(FE)
(TTEBAARBENESRBTA) RAKER
B TER GBI R E BN HRE -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 38. iEMREEBEERBEK(E

(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) ShE LR (4E)
Increase/ Decrease/

(decrease) (increase) Increase/
in exchange in loss (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
E=LH A RRBL A& 12 e,
(TB&) WA (3gm) ORLA ) *
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET

As at 31 December 2023 7A2023F12H831H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ M A RS BT E 5 (1,961) =
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ {4 A R H &t FHE (5) 1,961 _

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
B FH R 252 A1 e A g,
(FE&) 38,/ Cd) CRi)*
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT

As at 31 December 2022 72022%F12H31H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ M AR S BT E 5 (1,846) =
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ i A R X & T FHE (5) 1,846 _

* Excluding retained profits
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's bank borrowings with floating
interest rates. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group's borrowings are disclosed in note 26 to the financial
statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable
interest rates available for its borrowings. Management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposures should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit/(loss)
before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

* TERERBRER

AREBEHBNTISMN X SRR T EEAEE
HZBIRITERER - AREEROXRE
BIFTN I EHRRM 26558 - AEBAER
TIREEFFDREENX - EEFEEN K
Rk - WA FHEEHEE REHE RN ERE

B o

TRMBRGE BRI Ll TRRER
AROERT - AEMOBB AR (B
GEBY)Z B ERAT ) HHE AT 2D
BB -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

38. UHEMREERERBEK(E)

(Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FIZ=E R (&)

Decrease/
Increase/ (increase)
(decrease) in loss
in basis points before tax
=2 ERH BRFL AT 1B
(TF%) W (35hm)
HK$'000
FHAT

As at 31 December 2023 7A2023F12H831H
Hong Kong dollar BIT 100 (231)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 231
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in basis points before tax
B A BR 750 Al Vo K
(FB&) #anCrd)
HK$'000
FHT

As at 31 December 2022 "202212H31H
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (209)
Hong Kong dollar BIT (100) 209

The change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period, with
all other variables held constant, had no impact on the Group's equity
excluding retained profits for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that only well-established customers
will be considered for open account terms and the approval of credit
terms is subject to stringent credit check procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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HMEHRMF R B (ERTEEMA R
BREMERT)EHAREEEE2023F %2022
F12A3NAEFEMNER (TEREREBEH)
R -

FERRE

AEEEEZRAAMEERFNE=ZTRS °
AEBHNBRBEHELEANTFEBRE
GEHREEEHNERETHRRERERER
FFo tboh - REEFEE AR AL - MAE
EHERERILTERX o
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts

for financial assets.

38. MIBEMEEBEERBE(E

EERE(E)
AR 2 R F KB

TREIM2ZANAERAEEEERR (X
ERFBHERGE - BRIFEMERBANH
THRERAXKEZNANTES) NEEERRE
REERBBONRFERERDE - IEHR
REREEZHREAE -

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218
BEHREFR 2HRAEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1ER EER E3EER Gl A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TR THR THET
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%12631H
Trade receivables* B SRElzIE* - - - 45,566 45,566
Financial assets included in FABRFE RER
prepayments, deposits and HinEYEs
other receivables** CREAE 14,905 - - = 14,905
Financial asset at fair value RATFEFABSNEREE
through profit or loss 5,940 - - - 5,940
Pledged deposits BEBER
— Not yet past due —R@H 14,575 = = = 14,575
Cash and cash equivalents R RACZEN
- Not yet past due — K 34,158 - - - 34,158
Total @t 69,578 - - 45,566 115,144
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

38. UHEMREEBERBEK(E

FERRE)

= rA

L S T e
RA AR N F K[

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
121848
BHEEER 2HRHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1ER EYLLE ERl CHYE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T THL THL THET
As at 31 December 2022 #2022%12631A
Trade receivables* o REE* - - = 43,777 43,777
Financial assets included in FABRTE  BER
prepayments, deposits and Hit YRR
other receivables** EREE* 14,474 - - 5 14,474
Financial asset at fair value BATEH A BRRNEREE
through profit or loss 5,803 - - - 5,803
Pledged deposits BEAER
~ Not yet past due — K@l 14,138 - - S 14,138
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALZEN
— Not yet past due KB 62,325 = - - 62,325
Total @zt 96,740 - - 43,777 140,517

y For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21 to the
financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due or there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Credit risk concentration

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. The Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as the trade receivables in terms of the
following percentages were due from the Group’s largest external

* BRAKEREAMEARETRENEZBKERNE
LA B AR [ ) B BB T SRR A SE 2140 5R ©

> FABRMREA ReRHEGERFEANERAEZER
BERAAHAT BEHRAZESREEANIER
REERRBEEMERRES [EF] -

FERRER

HRAKEERAZRAREERFNE=TR
7 WEFEER - AEEBEETEEETE
B DERRUTEZREFREAREE SR
Wk HARREN B D LR AR ERAINER P

customer and the Group's five largest external customers out of the EAREERAARINEEE &
Group’s total trade receivables:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
% %
Due from the Group's largest external customer JEUYRE B F AIMNBR P 2IE 6 10
Due from the Group's five largest external JEURA £ B 7 KNSR P 7008
customers 19 20
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liguidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and funds
generated from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual and undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

M EREERREREEE

REBEEER

AEEEREEERDESHRE TAEEES
SRRER ZTAFRESRTANESRE
EMENIHBEARBALLERSRTRE

AEENBEBERBBERRITERRLERS
B EESZARBUEREEE ZMRET
-

AEERBREPRER GO RABRN TN
MAGEIHARLT

Less than 3 to less than More than
On demand 3 months 12 months  1to 5 years 5 years Total
RER DPR3MER 3Z212BAUT 125% 5ENE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tix Tix Tir Tix Tix Tix
As at 31 December 2023 20235124318
Trade payables ZSERTE - 57,323 - - - 57,323
Financial liabilities included in STARMREAFER
other payables and accruals EAERANECRAR 16 6,342 - - = 6,358
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 58RI Z 20,876 454 1,363 1,363 - 24,056
Lease liabilities HEBE - 4,050 8,358 15,674 10,496 38,578
Total =t 20,892 68,169 9,721 17,037 10,496 126,315
As at 31 December 2022 #2022612831A
Trade payables BHRMATE - 53,572 = = = 53,572
Financial liabilities included in AL ENTER
other payables and accruals EAERNSRAR 7 8,038 - - - 8,045
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  ESIR1TER 17,059 454 1,363 1,817 1,363 22,056
Lease liabilities HEaE - 3,448 8,961 22,302 2,637 37,348
Total et 17,066 65,512 10,324 24,119 4,000 121,021

The Group's term loans and bank overdrafts with a repayment
on demand clause in the amount of HK$20,876,000 (2022:
HK$17,059,000) were repayable after one year in accordance with
the terms of the loans. The loan agreements contained a repayment
on demand clause giving the bank the unconditional right to call in
the loans at any time and therefore, for the purpose of the above
maturity profile, the amount is classified as “on demand”.

K £ B A& 220,876,000 7 JT ( 2022 F :
17,059,0007%8 7t ) MY 75 % 2 Sk {8 32 6k 51 B9 TE 3
ERRBITESBREEBERMNIERAR—F
BEE - ERBZESREREEIRNK - ZIF
SRR, F &R 1T R (A B P R R E B R0
oA g ERBEARR TS - B ERIER
DA TRENK] -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that
the loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they
consider that the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of this
report; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of
events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all previously
scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 December 2023, in accordance with the terms of the loans
and bank overdrafts, the contractual undiscounted payments were
HK$17,398,000 due within one year, HK$4,983,000 due in the
second year, and HK$1,675,000 due beyond two years.

As at 31 December 2022, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$14,865,000
due within one year, HK$4,491,000 due in the second year, and
HK$3,191,000 due after two years.

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices
and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to
market price risk arising from key management insurance contracts
classified as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss (note
18) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2023 Annual Report
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RBESEREE)

BEA LGN  EFXTITRBA/EHEFBE
REARTHEE  TRBEBEFEREER
RipEAEOE M AEE - ERAFEEEET
FIEREIER - REBENARE B HOP BN
N AEBEHEFRHENARBR  REHR
BHEM  RAKEERRBEELAMERE

yom £
B o

MW2023F12 A31H REERRETE
THER R —FREBHAHKRERN
X A17,398000 8 L RE-FHHH
54,983,000 70 RMENZRIHN A
1,675,000/ T ©

1M2022F12A31H @ REBEEZRIER > R—F
ANE| B A # AR BE IR 30A 14,865,000 7T -
RE —FFHH A4,491,0008 7T - RAF%E
F|HAK) 43,191,000/ ¢ ©

S EAR E

T B A% B KR T /B 5 AR 4 45 UK K A8 Bl 7%
HFEEFIMERRAES 2 AFE NEER
Z R o R2023F %2022 12 A31H » K&
EAESBEAEATEFABSNEREEZ
FTEEBABRBANAMEELEZTHERRER
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Market price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change
in the fair values of the key management insurance contracts with all
other variables held constant, of the Group's profit/(loss) before tax
and the Group's equity, based on their carrying amounts at the end

38.

I EREE R ERBEEE

miSERREREE)

TERAPEFMEEMAIEZRZHFIENBER
T REREHRZEEE  AEERBTANG
A/ (BR)ERAEERESHEEZEBABRR
BN A TES R EBHNBEE -

of the reporting period.

Decrease/
(increase) in
Carrying loss before
amount tax
MRBLAIE B
ARTEE L (3Ehn)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
2023 20235
Key management insurance contract DERRAFETA
classified as a financial asset at fair value BHENTEEEAS
through profit or loss REELD 5,940 297
Increase/
(decrease) in
Carrying profit before
amount tax
R 250 B e A
BREE a0, Crd)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
2022 20224
Key management insurance contract DERERNFERA
classified as a financial asset at fair value BRI ZEEAE
through profit or loss REBEX 5,803 290
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 38. B MEEEERBE (&

(Continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders or return capital to shareholders. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital. Net debt includes interest-bearing
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Capital represents the equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

AEEETEAEETIEE EREASENR
BRERES - LABREHEBE AR RED
BAREBIARIEE KA

AEBEBREEAEERRABLBRDEEE
LA - BEFLAREALER  ASETE
SHABRMN FRENKREFIERABEREEL
N o B E2023F 20225128318 ILEE -
EEREAMBE BORSBFIEHIRES -

AEBEEREERGLE(AFEBRUAER
BB)ERER - FEABEBABRITERK
HEBE - BEABARRER ABEESE -
HBEMRNEERBLEMT

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings STRRITER 23,115 20,882
Lease liabilities HEEE 25,065 30,188
Net debt FE 48,180 51,070
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KT AR 195,032 239,260
Gearing ratio EEABHLEX 24.7% 21.3%
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

39. RARMBARRE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
=2 FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB ARIMEE 181,314 201,488
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments SEERE S 320 363
Due from subsidiaries NG EeE] 52,811 72,760
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESEEY 310 349
Total current assets MEVEELE 53,441 73,472
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals HAib BB R IEE A 16 71
Due to subsidiaries FEIB B A RI5RIE 2,049 1,925
Total current liabilities mEAaEEE 2,065 1,996
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 51,376 71,476
Net assets BEFE 232,690 272,964
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE
Share capital &N 28 20,000 20,000
Reserves (note) FHEACIED) 212,690 252,964
Total equity - E 232,690 272,964
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  39. &AA TR & (&)

(Continued)
Note: Bt -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: ARBFEREMT -
Share Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B E BRI f[rtE5E st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FAT FHT
At 1 January 2022 1K2022%1 818 277,051 35 (24,444) 252,642
Equity-settled share option arrangement P 7 4 0 O A 22 S 7 - 7
Final dividend REARR S = = (5,000) (5,000)
Profit for the year and total comprehensive income 4 5% F & 4 A 2
for the year Weasiaza - - 5,315 5,315
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2022412 A31H % 202341 A1H 277,051 42 (24,129) 252,964
Equity-settled share option arrangement R ERR L - 8 - 8
Final dividend REARR B = - (4,000) (4,000)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss for FREE N ERZH
the year R sasE - - (36,282) (36,282)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H 277,051 50 (64,411) 212,690
40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 40. HEBFEIRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by BTSSR R M 2024 F3 27 HEESE €4 E MK
the board of directors on 27 March 2024. RETZE -
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